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INTRODUCTION 

In place since 1953, Oregon’s antidiscrimination statutes prevent not only 

“the monetary loss of a commercial transaction or the inconvenience of limited 

access” but also “the greater evil of unequal treatment, which is the injury to an 

individual’s sense of self-worth and personal integrity.”  King v. Greyhound 

Lines, Inc., 61 Or App 197, 203, 656 P2d 349 (1982).  

Melissa and Aaron Klein argue that the Oregon Constitution and the First 

Amendment to the United States Constitution permit them to disregard these 

laws and deny service to any same-sex couple seeking a wedding cake—

notwithstanding that the Kleins run a commercial bakery, open to the public, 

that routinely makes and sells cakes.  Otherwise, the Kleins contend, Oregon 

bakers and other Oregon merchants would be compelled “to devote their time 

and talents to create art destined for use in expressive events conveying 

messages that contradict their deeply and sincerely held religious beliefs.”  

Opening Br at 4.   

Adopting the Kleins’ position would mean that a nearly unlimited range 

of for-profit businesses that market goods and services to the public would have 

the right to violate Oregon’s antidiscrimination statutes on an unlimited number 

of occasions by discriminating on the basis of any protected characteristic—

including race, national origin, sex, or religion.  Chefs, florists, winemakers, 
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jewelers, hotel managers, hairdressers, cosmetologists, clothiers, and other 

professionals and business owners who object on religious (or other) grounds to 

same-sex couples, interfaith couples, interracial couples, racial or religious 

minorities, or the foreign-born would be entitled to deny service to people in 

these categories.  And in rural parts of Oregon, especially, members of 

protected classes “might be forced to pick their merchants carefully, like black 

families driving across the South half a century ago.”  Robin Fretwell Wilson & 

Jana Singer, Same-Sex Marriage and Conscience Exemptions, Address at the 

University of Maryland School of Law (Mar 24, 2011), in 12 ENGAGE: J. 

FEDERALIST SOC’Y PRAC GROUPS, Sept 2011, at 16-17. 

But as every appellate court nationwide that has faced this question has 

held, neither the constitutions of Oregon’s sister states nor the federal First 

Amendment provides commercial businesses with a free-exercise or free-

speech right to deny service to individuals in violation of state public-

accommodations laws.  The Kleins’ attempt to bypass Oregon’s protections for 

members of protected classes should be equally unsuccessful. 

The Oregon statutes at issue—ORS 659A.403 and ORS 659A.409—are 

neutral both among religions and as between religion and nonreligion.  Thus, 

the Kleins have no basis under the free-exercise clauses of the Oregon and 

federal constitutions for a religious exemption from these provisions.  That is 
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particularly true where, as here, the exemption would injure third parties like 

Laurel and Rachel Bowman-Cryer.   

The Kleins’ free-speech arguments fare no better.  Their arguments under 

the Oregon Constitution rest exclusively on federal constitutional analysis—and 

that analysis is incorrect as a matter of law.  The Kleins’ federal free-speech 

arguments fail principally because preparing and selling products is ordinary 

commercial conduct, not protected expression.  And the Kleins’ federal 

expressive-association argument fails principally because the Kleins are not part 

of a group or association that has come together for the purpose of engaging in 

protected expression. 

ARGUMENT 

I. Free-Exercise Claims Do Not Excuse Compliance with Oregon’s 
Public-Accommodations Laws. 

The Kleins argue that, by requiring them to sell wedding cakes to same-

sex couples in the same manner and to the same extent as they sell cakes to 

different-sex couples, Oregon’s antidiscrimination statutes violate their free-

exercise rights under both the Oregon and federal constitutions.  Those 

arguments demonstrate a fundamental misunderstanding of well-settled state 

and federal constitutional law.   

The Kleins focus entirely on whether the Bureau of Labor and Industries 

(BOLI) Final Order is neutral and generally applicable (and whether it survives 

exacting or strict scrutiny).  Opening Br at 47-56.  But under both the Oregon 
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and federal constitutions, the proper analysis is whether the law at issue is 

facially neutral and generally applicable or whether it instead impermissibly 

targets religion or religious conduct.  See, e.g., State v. Hickman, 358 Or 1, 15-

16, 358 P3d 987 (2015) (setting forth analysis of free-exercise claims under 

Oregon Constitution); Emp’t Div., Dep’t of Human Res. v. Smith, 494 US 872, 

885-86, 110 S Ct 1595, 108 L Ed 2d 876 (1990) (setting forth analysis of free-

exercise claims under federal First Amendment). 

Properly framed, the issue is not, therefore, whether the BOLI Final 

Order violates principles of free exercise; it is whether ORS 659A.403 and ORS 

659A.409 do.  And the answer to that question is a resounding “no.”  The 

Kleins’ free-exercise arguments fail as a matter of law. 

A. Oregon’s free-exercise clauses do not grant businesses the right 
to engage in religiously motivated discrimination.1 

Oregon courts have repeatedly emphasized that the driving force behind 

Article I, section 2 (“All men shall be secure in the Natural right, to worship 

Almighty God according to the dictates of their own consciences.”) and section 

3 (“No law shall in any case whatever control the free exercise, and enjoyment 

of religeous [sic] opinions, or interfere with the rights of conscience.”) of the 

                                           
1 Consistent with Oregon’s “first things first” approach, this brief 
addresses state constitutional claims before moving on to address those arising 
under the federal Constitution.  See Sterling v. Cupp, 290 Or 611, 614, 625 P2d 
123 (1981). 
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Oregon Constitution is to ensure governmental neutrality both among religions 

and as between religion and nonreligion.  See Cooper v. Eugene Sch. Dist. No. 

4J, 301 Or 358, 372-73, 723 P2d 298 (1986) (upholding statutes forbidding 

public-school teachers to wear religious dress at school because statutes were a 

means to achieve religious neutrality);2 Salem Coll. & Acad., Inc. v. Emp’t Div., 

298 Or 471, 489, 695 P2d 25 (1985) (statutes cannot constitutionally distinguish 

between church and nonchurch religious institutions).  

Not surprisingly, then, the Oregon Supreme Court’s test for analyzing a 

law’s compliance with the free-exercise clauses considers, first and foremost, 

whether the law is neutral toward religion “on its face and in its policy.”  State 

v. Brumwell, 350 Or 93, 108, 249 P3d 965 (2011) (citation omitted).  If the law 

satisfies this neutrality requirement, the “only issues” for a court to consider are 

whether there was “statutory authority to make such a regulation”3 and whether 

the court should grant “an individual claim to exemption on religious grounds.”  

Id. (citation omitted). 

There can be no serious doubt that Oregon’s antidiscrimination statutes 

comport with the Oregon Constitution’s goal of religious neutrality.  ORS 

                                           
2 The legislature later repealed the statutes at issue in Cooper, ORS 
342.650 and ORS 342.655, in 2010.  See Or Laws 2010, ch 105, § 3.   
3 The Kleins do not contend that the legislature lacked statutory authority 
to enact ORS 659A.403 and ORS 659A.409, so this case does not present that 
question. 
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659A.403 forbids denying any “person[] within the jurisdiction of this 

state * * * the full and equal accommodations, advantages, facilities and 

privileges of any place of public accommodation” because of the person’s 

“race, color, religion, sex, sexual orientation, national origin, marital status or 

age.”  And ORS 659A.409 prohibits publishing any notice that a public 

accommodation will deny service on the basis of one of these protected 

characteristics.  

The statutes, by their plain terms, neither discriminate against nor target 

religion.  Instead, they apply “on equal terms and with equal force” to all places 

of public accommodation, prohibiting them from engaging in sexual-

orientation-based discrimination regardless of the business owner’s motivation, 

religious or otherwise; they mention religion solely to protect religious belief 

against discrimination.  See Hickman, 358 Or at 16-17 (statute is neutral and 

generally applicable when it “neither discriminate[s] against nor target[s] 

religion or a particular religious sect”).   

The Kleins purport to rely on Church of the Lukumi Babalu Aye, Inc. v. 

City of Hialeah, 508 US 520, 113 S Ct 2217, 124 L Ed 2d 472 (1993), to argue 

that the BOLI Final Order (again, not ORS 659A.403 or ORS 659A.409) is not 

neutral and generally applicable.  Opening Br at 50.  But Lukumi—a case 

arising under the federal First Amendment—only confirms that Oregon’s 

antidiscrimination laws are both neutral and generally applicable.  The city-
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defendant in Lukumi adopted what it styled as animal-cruelty ordinances that 

banned animal sacrifice while exempting essentially every other form of harm 

to animals.  508 US at 525-28.  The Court concluded that the ordinances were a 

“religious gerrymander” specifically designed and intended “to infringe upon or 

restrict practices because of their religious motivation,” and thus, the ordinances 

were not neutral.  Id. at 533-35 (citation omitted).  Here, by contrast, there is no 

hint that ORS 659A.403 or ORS 659A.409 were a religious gerrymander or that 

the Oregon legislature adopted them to “infringe upon or restrict” any religious 

practice.  Under Lukumi, then, the Oregon public-accommodations laws simply 

do not present any genuine free-exercise concerns.  See also Locke v. Davey, 

540 US 712, 720, 124 S Ct 1307, 158 L Ed 2d 1 (2004) (further explaining 

Lukumi). 

The question before this court is thus a narrow one:  Do operators of 

public accommodations have a free-exercise right under the Oregon 

Constitution to exempt themselves from Oregon’s neutral and generally 

applicable antidiscrimination laws so as to engage in religiously motivated 

discrimination?  

Whatever other factors this court and the Oregon Supreme Court might 

deem appropriate to consider when determining what circumstances might 

warrant religious exemptions from neutral and generally applicable laws, the 

courts of this state have never so much as hinted that religious exemptions are 
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constitutionally required—or even permitted—when they would harm third 

parties.  That is no surprise:  Such a requirement would raise substantial 

questions under Article I, sections 2 and 3, of the Oregon Constitution,4 and 

would be irreconcilable with federal Religion Clause jurisprudence.5  Hence, in 

Hickman, the Oregon Supreme Court appropriately refused to provide a 

religious exemption to parents who had been criminally prosecuted for refusing, 

on religious grounds, to seek medical treatment for their son when that decision 

resulted in the child’s death.  358 Or at 23-25. 

Lest there be any doubt, the Kleins’ refusal of service did harm third 

parties—namely, the Bowman-Cryers.  See generally SER 34-39 (describing 

effect on couple of Kleins’ refusal of service).  And this court has recognized 

that this type of discrimination in and of itself causes serious harm:   

“[T]he chief harm resulting from the practice of 
discrimination by establishments serving the general 
public is not the monetary loss of a commercial 
transaction or the inconvenience of limited access but, 

                                           
4 See, e.g., Eugene Sand & Gravel, Inc. v. City of Eugene, 276 Or 1007, 
1013, 558 P2d 338 (1976) (setting forth Establishment Clause test under Article 
I, sections 2 and 3, and explaining that the “line between state neutrality to 
religion and state support of religion is ‘one of degree’”) (citation omitted). 
5  See, e.g., Cutter v. Wilkinson, 544 US 709, 710, 125 S Ct 2113, 161 L Ed 
2d 1020 (2005) (religious accommodation must be “measured so that it does not 
override other significant interests,” including interests of third parties, because 
accommodation would otherwise violate Establishment Clause); Estate of 
Thornton v. Caldor, Inc., 472 US 703, 710-11, 105 S Ct 2914, 86 L Ed 2d 557 
(1985) (striking down statutory religious accommodation that imposed burdens 
on persons other than the benefitted parties).  
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rather, the greater evil of unequal treatment, which is 
the injury to an individual’s sense of self-worth and 
personal integrity.” 

King, 61 Or App at 203 (derogatory remarks by employee about customer 

violate Oregon antidiscrimination statute even when service is actually 

provided).  This court should not, therefore, interpret the Oregon Constitution in 

a way that would permit businesses to inflict the grave harm of unequal 

treatment, no matter what reason may be advanced to justify the discrimination.  

This court should instead uphold the BOLI Commissioner’s conclusion that the 

Kleins are not entitled to a religious exemption from Oregon’s neutral and 

generally applicable public-accommodations laws. 

B. Oregon’s facially neutral and generally applicable public-
accommodations laws do not implicate the federal Free 
Exercise Clause. 

The federal Free Exercise Clause likewise does not license the Kleins’ 

violation of Oregon’s antidiscrimination laws.  In Employment Division v. 

Smith, the United States Supreme Court held that laws that are generally 

applicable and facially neutral with respect to religion do not implicate the Free 

Exercise Clause’s core concerns, even if they have the effect of imposing 

special burdens on members of a particular faith.  494 US at 878-79.  Thus, a 

law that does not target religious exercise “need not be justified by a compelling 

governmental interest even if the law has the incidental effect of burdening a 

particular religious practice.”  Lukumi, 508 US at 531.  Antidiscrimination laws 
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like Oregon’s apply to all businesses on equal terms and do not single out 

religion or any particular faith for favor or disfavor.  As a result, they easily 

survive Free Exercise Clause review under Smith.6 

A law fails to satisfy the neutrality requirement only if its “object * * * is 

to infringe upon or restrict practices because of their religious motivation.”  

Lukumi, 508 US at 533.  The “object” of Oregon’s body of public-

                                           
6  Indeed, even before Smith, when federal claims under the federal Free 
Exercise Clause received strict scrutiny even when the law in question applied 
to religious and nonreligious conduct alike, see, e.g., Sherbert v. Verner, 374 
US 398, 403-04, 406, 83 S Ct 1790, 10 L Ed 2d 965 (1963), the United States 
Supreme Court squarely rejected arguments that the Free Exercise Clause could 
be used to justify violating antidiscrimination laws.  In Bob Jones University v. 
United States, 461 US 574, 103 S Ct 2017, 76 L Ed 2d 157 (1983), for instance, 
the Court rejected a free-exercise defense of a university’s discriminatory 
admissions practices, even though “the challenged practices * * * were based 
on a genuine belief that the Bible forbids interracial dating and marriage.”  Id. 
at 602 n 28.  Likewise, in Newman v. Piggie Park Enterprises, Inc., 390 US 
400, 88 S Ct 964, 19 L Ed 2d 1263 (1968), the Court rejected the argument that 
requiring a restaurant to serve African-American patrons “constitutes an 
interference with the ‘free exercise of the Defendant’s religion,’” which 
included doctrines of racial superiority and inferiority.  Id. at 402 n 5 (citation 
omitted).  Indeed, the Court deemed the restaurant’s free-exercise argument 
“patently frivolous.”  Id.  The lower federal courts have consistently reached 
similar conclusions.  See, e.g., Dole v. Shenandoah Baptist Church, 899 F2d 
1389, 1392, 1397-98 (4th Cir 1990) (enforcing equal-pay laws against employer 
who sought to justify paying women less because “the Bible clearly teaches that 
the husband is the head of the house, head of the wife, head of the family”); 
EEOC v. Townley Eng’g & Mfg. Co., 859 F2d 610, 620-21 (9th Cir 1988) 
(enforcing Title VII’s prohibition against religious discrimination despite the 
defendant-employers’ argument that their practice of requiring their employees 
to attend onsite devotional services during working hours was required by “the 
Bible and [the employers’] covenant with God”). 
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accommodations law is instead to proscribe discrimination on the basis of race, 

color, religion, sex, sexual orientation, national origin, marital status, and age, 

so as to advance a fundamental value that is also “embodied in our [federal] Bill 

of Rights—the respect for individual dignity in a diverse population.”  Gay 

Rights Coal. of Georgetown Univ. Law Ctr. v. Georgetown Univ., 536 A2d 1, 

32 (DC Ct App 1987).  As explained above, the Kleins do not argue, and 

nothing else suggests, that the Oregon legislature passed the state’s 

antidiscrimination laws with the aim of burdening religious exercise. 

The neutrality requirement is “interrelated” with Smith’s second 

consideration—namely, whether a law applies generally to all.  Lukumi, 508 US 

at 531.  Oregon’s antidiscrimination laws not only forbid all sexual-orientation 

discrimination, whether motivated by religion, tradition, or personal discomfort, 

but also apply generally to all public accommodations.  The laws thus comport 

with the Free Exercise Clause because they do not “selective[ly] * * * impose 

burdens only on conduct motivated by religious belief.”  Id. at 543. 

Courts across the country have thus repeatedly concluded that 

antidiscrimination laws like Oregon’s present no problem under the federal Free 

Exercise Clause.  See, e.g., Christian Legal Soc’y Chapter of the Univ. of Cal., 

Hastings Coll. of the Law v. Martinez, 561 US 661, 697 n 27, 130 S Ct 2971, 

177 L Ed 2d 838 (2010) (public law school’s policy forbidding discrimination 

based on sexual orientation was “of general application” and only “incidentally 
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burden[ed] religious conduct,” so religious student group could not “moor its 

request for accommodation to the Free Exercise Clause”); Hyman v. City of 

Louisville, 132 F Supp 2d 528, 538-39 (WD Ky 2001) (rejecting federal free-

exercise challenge to ordinance banning employment discrimination based on 

sexual orientation), vac’d on other grounds, 53 F App’x 740 (6th Cir 2002); 

Elane Photography, LLC v. Willock, 309 P3d 53, 75 (NM 2013) (rejecting 

wedding photographer’s federal free-exercise challenge to application of 

antidiscrimination law); N. Coast Women’s Care Med. Grp., Inc. v. San Diego 

Cty. Super. Ct., 189 P3d 959, 967 (Cal 2008) (rejecting federal free-exercise 

challenge to law requiring doctors to provide artificial-insemination treatments 

regardless of patients’ sexual orientation); Smith v. Fair Emp’t & Hous. 

Comm’n, 913 P2d 909, 919 (Cal 1996) (rejecting federal free-exercise 

challenge to law prohibiting landlords from discriminating on basis of marital 

status); Swanner v. Anchorage Equal Rights Comm’n, 874 P2d 274, 279 

(Alaska 1994) (same).7  In sum, “protections for same-sex couples do not 

                                           
7  Courts have likewise rejected Free Exercise Clause defenses to 
antidiscrimination laws outside the context of public accommodations.  See, 
e.g., King v. Governor of N.J., 767 F3d 216, 241-43 (3d Cir 2014) (rejecting 
challenge by religious counselors to state-law ban on purportedly therapeutic 
efforts to change sexual orientation of gay minors), cert den, 135 S Ct 2048 
(2015); Keeton v. Anderson-Wiley, 664 F3d 865, 879-80 (11th Cir 2011) 
(upholding requirement that, despite religious objections, graduate student in 
counseling program must comply with professional-ethics rules requiring 
treatment of lesbians and gay men); Harper v. Poway Unified Sch. Dist., 445 
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specifically target religious conduct or motives,” so “the Free Exercise Clause 

offers no support for exemption claims.”  Ira C. Lupu & Robert W. Tuttle, 

Same-Sex Family Equality and Religious Freedom, 5 NW J L & SOC POL’Y 274, 

287-88 (2010). 

Indeed, so clear is the law in this area that the federal Free Exercise 

Clause has been held to excuse otherwise illegal discrimination only when an 

exemption was necessary to preserve the associational interests unique to 

houses of worship.  Thus, the United States Supreme Court held that the Clause 

prohibits application of general antidiscrimination laws to religious institutions 

when—and only when—the antidiscrimination laws would intrude on and 

interfere with “the internal governance of the church.”  Hosanna-Tabor 

Evangelical Lutheran Church & Sch. v. EEOC, 565 US __,132 S Ct 694, 706, 

181 L Ed 2d 650 (2012).  In so holding, the Court clarified that this 

constitutional protection is not available even to associations or affinity groups 

like a “labor union, or a social club,” much less to commercial establishments 

such as bakeries.  Id.  As the Court explained, the Free Exercise Clause can and 

                                                                                                                                   
F3d 1166, 1188 (9th Cir 2006) (upholding school policy forbidding student to 
wear shirt displaying antigay message, despite student’s religious motivation), 
vac’d on other grounds, 549 US 1262 (2007). 
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does treat churches differently from ordinary businesses because of the special 

and traditional solicitude for the right of churches to select their own clergy.8  

II. Free-Speech Claims Do Not Excuse Compliance with Oregon’s 
Public-Accommodations Laws. 

A. This court should reject the Kleins’ undeveloped free-speech 
arguments under Article I, section 8, of the Oregon 
Constitution. 

This court should decline to consider whether, by making and selling 

wedding cakes, the Kleins engage in protected speech under Article I, section 8, 

of the Oregon Constitution because the Kleins have failed to develop any 

meaningful argument on that point.  In their 70 pages of briefing, they devote 

just one-half of one page to Article I, section 8.  Opening Br at 46-47.  That 

half-page cursorily asserts that Oregon’s public-accommodations laws should 

be held to violate Article I, section 8, because they supposedly violate the Free 

Speech Clause of the First Amendment to the United States Constitution. 

Courts are not required to craft arguments when parties have failed to 

develop the arguments on their own.  See, e.g., State v. Anderson, 175 Or App 

                                           
8  As for the Kleins’ hybrid-rights argument, the effort should fail not only 
because, as explained in Part II, infra, the Kleins have no valid free-speech 
claim, and hence there can be no “hybrid” combination of rights at issue, but 
also because the hybrid-rights theory is itself highly suspect:  “No published 
circuit court opinion * * * has ever applied strict scrutiny to a case in which 
plaintiffs argued they had presented a hybrid claim.”  Parker v. Hurley, 514 F3d 
87, 97-99 (1st Cir 2008); accord Leebaert v. Harrington, 332 F3d 134, 143-44 
(2d Cir 2003); see also Combs v. Homer-Ctr. Sch. Dist., 540 F3d 231, 244-47 
(3d Cir 2008) (concluding that mention of hybrid rights in Smith was dicta). 
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464, 473, 28 P3d 662 (2001) (considering federal constitutional claims but 

declining to reach undeveloped and cursory state constitutional claims).  And 

there is no justification for the Kleins’ failure to develop their Article I, section 

8, argument before this court because the BOLI Commissioner and the 

Administrative Law Judge addressed the issue at length below.  SER 33-35, 

100-109.  

If, however, this court does consider the claim, it should be rejected 

because, as explained in detail in the next section, Oregon’s public-

accommodations laws do not violate the First Amendment’s Free Speech or 

Free Association Clauses.  Because the entire premise for the Kleins’ Article I, 

section 8, argument is wrong, their conclusion is equally wrong. 

B. The federal Free Speech Clause does not grant businesses the 
right to discriminate. 

The Kleins contend that they are being forced to produce “art”—that is, 

wedding cakes—that would “facilitate” events with which they disagree—

namely, weddings for same-sex couples.  Opening Br at 5.  They argue that 

being required by Oregon law to sell the cakes to same-sex couples is 

unconstitutionally compelled speech that violates the federal Free Speech 

Clause.  Id. at 30-39.  Relatedly, they argue that Oregon’s antidiscrimination 

requirements violate the First Amendment by compelling expressive conduct, 

id. at 44-46, or expressive association, id. at 39-42.   
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But Oregon’s antidiscrimination laws do not force the Kleins to speak or 

to express any particular message in word or deed; the laws simply require that, 

having chosen to sell a good or service to the public, the Kleins must provide 

that same good or service to all customers regardless of membership in a 

protected class.  The antidiscrimination laws are, therefore, restrictions on 

conduct that do not implicate any constitutionally protected rights of free 

expression.   

The Kleins’ arguments, if accepted, would apply equally to any Oregon 

business that provides goods or services of an artistic nature to the public, 

undermining civil-rights statutes that have been protecting Oregonians for more 

than sixty years and leaving members of protected classes with an unknowable 

number of businesses that they cannot patronize.  This court need not and 

should not upend decades of civil-rights law and give public accommodations 

carte blanche to engage in invidious discrimination that the legislature has 

wisely forbidden.  

1. Oregon’s public-accommodations laws regulate conduct, 
not speech, and hence do not implicate the federal Free 
Speech Clause.  

Oregon’s antidiscrimination laws mandate that businesses that choose to 

open themselves to the public must not “deny full and equal accommodations, 

advantages, facilities and privileges” to any customer as a result of the 

customer’s membership in a protected class.  ORS 659A.403.  Because this 
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requirement regulates conduct—i.e., refusals of service—not speech, it is not 

within the Free Speech Clause’s purview.  

Oregon’s antidiscrimination laws require public accommodations like the 

Kleins’ shop to serve all customers without regard to membership in a protected 

class.  To comply, businesses need only provide the same services to black 

people as they do to white people, to women as they do to men, and to same-sex 

couples as they do to different-sex couples.  King, 61 Or App at 202-03.  In 

doing so, businesses need not proclaim any particular belief or message.  

Hence, an art gallery may sell First Amendment-protected paintings, but the 

gallery owners are not compelled to speak by being required to sell those 

paintings to black and white customers on an equal basis.  And a nail salon that 

paints intricate and artistic designs on its customers’ fingernails is not 

compelled to speak by being required to place its offered designs on both men’s 

and women’s hands.  The United States Supreme Court has held that these sorts 

of equal-access requirements do not constitute compelled speech for First 

Amendment purposes, and that should end the matter.  Cf. Rumsfeld v. Forum 

for Acad. and Institutional Rights, Inc. (FAIR), 547 US 47, 65, 126 S Ct 1297, 

164 L Ed 2d 156 (2006) (law school not compelled to speak by granting equal 

access to military and nonmilitary recruiters).   

Indeed, although all sorts of business have attempted to assert free-

speech defenses to liability for illegal discrimination on the basis of sexual 
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orientation, every appellate court that has faced the argument has rejected it.  

The Supreme Court of New Mexico, for example, determined that New 

Mexico’s antidiscrimination statute was a conduct restriction concerning the act 

of turning away customers, and thus the statute could bar a wedding 

photographer from refusing service to same-sex couples without running afoul 

of the Free Speech Clause—notwithstanding that photography is an artistic 

endeavor.  See Elane Photography, 309 P3d at 64-65 (construing New 

Mexico’s Human Rights Act, New Mexico Statute section 28-1-7(F) (App, Ex 

A)).  As the court explained, New Mexico’s public-accommodations law “does 

not require Elane Photography to recite or display any message.  It does not 

even require Elane Photography to take photographs.  The [law] only mandates 

that if Elane Photography operates a business as a public accommodation, it 

cannot discriminate against potential clients based on their sexual orientation.”  

Id. at 64.  

Similarly, a flower shop in Washington argued unsuccessfully that it had 

a federal free-speech right to refuse to sell flower arrangements to same-sex 

couples for use at their weddings.  Washington v. Arlene’s Flowers, Inc., No. 

13-2-00871-5, 2015 WL 94248 (Wash Super Ct Jan 7, 2015) (holding florist 

liable for violating antidiscrimination law), appeal filed, No. 91615-2 (Wash 

May 1, 2015).  Owners of a rental wedding pavilion in New York 

unsuccessfully asserted a free-speech right to refuse to rent the space to same-
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sex couples.  See Gifford v. McCarthy, 137 AD3d 30, 30 (NY App Div 2016) 

(holding company liable under antidiscrimination law).  An art gallery in Iowa 

did not succeed in arguing that it had a free-speech right to refuse to rent space 

and provide wedding-planning services to same-sex couples in the gallery 

space, which the owners viewed as being their speech or expression.  

Complaint, Odgaard v. Iowa Civil Rights Comm’n, No. CVCV046451 (Iowa 

Dist Ct Oct 7, 2013) (App, Ex B).9  And another bakery—this one in 

Colorado—unsuccessfully made precisely the same claims about wedding 

cakes as the Kleins make here.  Craig v. Masterpiece Cakeshop, Inc., 370 P3d 

272, 276 (Colo App 2015) (rejecting bakery’s claims), cert den, No 15SC738, 

2016 WL 1645027 (Colo Apr 25, 2016).10   

If the federal First Amendment does not license refusals to serve same-

sex couples by photographers—or by florists, wedding-venue owners, art-

                                           
9 The lawsuit has since settled, with the gallery owners paying damages to 
the couple denied service and agreeing no longer to discriminate on the basis of 
sexual orientation.  Grimes’ Gortz Haus to Stop All Weddings in Wake of 
Discrimination Complaint, DES MOINES REG (Jan 28, 2015) (App, Ex C). 
10 In the only decision of its kind of which we are aware, a Kentucky trial 
court ruled that a screen-printing shop could refuse to produce T-shirts for a 
Gay Pride organization.  Hands on Originals v. Lexington-Fayette Urban Cty. 
Human Rights Comm’n, No. 14-CI-04474, slip op at 7 (Fayette Cir Ct Apr 27, 
2015) (App, Ex D).  That case is now on appeal.  See Baker v. Hands on 
Originals, Inc., 2015-CA-000745 (Ky Ct App, submitted for decision June 10, 
2016). 
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gallery owners, wedding planners, or Colorado bakers—then it does not license 

refusals of service by Oregon bakers either. 

That Oregon’s public-accommodations laws regulate conduct rather than 

speech, and thus should be held not to implicate the Free Speech Clause, is 

made all the more clear by the Kleins’ behavior here:  Aaron Klein refused to 

serve Complainant Rachel Bowman-Cryer immediately after he learned that she 

was marrying a woman; his decision had nothing to do with any particular 

design feature that Bowman-Cryer may have wanted for her cake.  Opening Br 

at 12.  Indeed, the very fact that the Kleins must point to an event that will 

occur after the cake has left the bakery—namely, the wedding—to justify their 

discrimination is proof that their concerns have nothing to do with expressive or 

artistic activity that may occur during the baking and decorating process, but 

instead center on the Kleins’ unwillingness to sell cakes to people whose sexual 

orientation they disfavor. See id. at 41 (explaining that Kleins believe that this 

case is about “denials of goods” by a seller “based on what [customers] propose 

to do” with those goods).  

The Kleins’ contention that their wedding cakes are art and thus should 

be deemed “fully protected speech,” id. at 30-33, is therefore entirely beside the 

point.  There is no doubt that making wedding cakes can involve an investment 

of time, skill, and creativity; and many bakers may well call their cakes “art.”  

The Kleins argue, for example, that their wedding cakes are art because they are 
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“the product of a long process that began with a consultation with the couple”; 

Melissa Klein “pour[s] her heart and soul” into her work; the cakes “reflect[] 

the [customers’] preferences, styles, and wedding themes”; and the cakes are 

“created through a multistep creative process of molding, cutting and shaping.”  

Id. at 17.  But similar descriptions about work processes could be given by all 

kinds of professionals, including chefs, architects, tailors, winemakers, 

microbrewers, florists, and barbers, not to mention the cabinetmakers at The 

Joinery—or even the makeup specialists at the Clinique counter.  Indeed, nearly 

“[a]nyone who makes goods might be thought to engage in an artistic 

endeavor.”  Mark Strasser, Speech, Association, Conscience, and the First 

Amendment’s Orientation, 91 DENV U L REV 495, 525 (2014).  An artistic 

exemption from public-accommodations laws would thus swallow 

antidiscrimination law whole. 

Hence, the legal regime that the Kleins propose would create a two-tiered 

system of rights and obligations:  No-frills providers would be required to 

comply with antidiscrimination laws, but skilled professionals who contend that 

they bring artistry to their work would be free to discriminate at will.  A dime-

store lunch counter would be required to serve interracial couples, but Marché 

in Eugene could turn them away; a Motel 6 would be required to offer rooms to 

interfaith couples, but The Heathman could exclude them.  And who knows 

what a Holiday Inn or a Hilton could or couldn’t do?  Courts would have to 
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determine, case by case, whether each individual business in any given industry 

provided services of sufficient artistry to afford a constitutional entitlement to 

discriminate.  Meanwhile, members of protected classes would be relegated to 

the lowest-quality providers, replacing modern antidiscrimination protections 

with a rule of “separate and unequal.”   

Not that long ago, these same arguments for First Amendment-based 

exemptions from civil-rights laws were a commonplace for shopkeepers, 

landlords, restaurateurs, beauticians, photographers, and club owners who 

wished to decline service to people of color, unmarried mothers, people with 

disabilities, religious minorities, and the foreign-born.  Were the Kleins’ view 

accepted, their rationale “might be used to refuse to provide any services at all 

to a vast array of individuals for fear of promoting objectionable lifestyles or 

practices.”  Strasser, at 530.  A caterer who dislikes racial minorities or 

interracial couples could refuse to cater their weddings, birthdays, or other 

events; a dressmaker who disapproves of Muslims could turn them away from 

her shop; a nativist hair stylist could refuse customers born in Mexico.  

Without acknowledging the scope of their argument, the Kleins point to 

Anderson v. City of Hermosa Beach, 621 F3d 1051 (9th Cir 2010), as 

supporting their contention that antidiscrimination statutes like Oregon’s are 

speech restrictions.  Opening Br at 31-32.  But Anderson addressed the 

constitutionality of a zoning restriction that absolutely banned tattoo parlors 
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from a city.  621 F3d at 1055.  The Ninth Circuit overturned the ban because it 

concluded that tattooing is protected expression even when undertaken as a 

business.  Id. at 1062-63.  The court did not hold, however, that the city was 

absolutely forbidden to regulate tattoo parlors, much less that the city was 

prohibited from requiring tattoo parlors to serve all customers on equal terms.  

Rather, the court recognized the city’s legitimate regulatory interests with 

respect to tattoo parlors but concluded that these could be met without 

completely eradicating a form of protected speech.  Id. at 1065-66.  That is, the 

court distinguished between regulating how goods are marketed to the public 

(which is constitutionally permissible) and forbidding an entire category of 

protected expression (which is not).   

Consequently, Anderson did not rule, or even hint, that all laws 

governing how commercial enterprises are run become constitutionally suspect 

regulation of protected speech simply because the business owners are artists, 

hire artists as employees, or sell items that count as art or other protected 

expression.  If that were the case, then galleries, book publishers, newsstands, 

and other businesses that might claim to sell protected speech could assert 

constitutional immunity from all building-code provisions, wage-and-hour laws, 

health-and-safety ordinances, consumer-protection statutes, and other 

requirements that apply universally to businesses that open their doors to the 

public.  The Free Speech Clause requires no such thing. 
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2. Calling cake-making expressive conduct does not save 
the Kleins’ arguments.  

The Kleins also recast their speech arguments in terms of expressive 

conduct, maintaining that the antidiscrimination laws are forcing them to bake 

cakes to further a particular message that they do not wish to communicate.  

Opening Br at 44-46.  This alternative formulation also fails.  

The Kleins are, of course, correct that the Free Speech Clause protects 

the right to refrain from speaking, Wooley v. Maynard, 430 US 705, 714, 97 

S Ct 1428, 51 L Ed 2d 752 (1977), and that the Clause’s protections extend to 

expressive conduct, W. Va. State Bd. of Educ. v. Barnette, 319 US 624, 632, 63 

S Ct 1178, 87 L Ed 1628 (1943).  But the Clause does not protect all conduct 

that an actor might consider expressive.  On the contrary, although “[i]t is 

possible to find some kernel of expression in almost every activity a person 

undertakes * * * [,] such a kernel is not sufficient to bring the activity within the 

protection of the First Amendment.”  City of Dallas v. Stanglin, 490 US 19, 25, 

109 S Ct 1591, 104 L Ed 2d 18 (1989).  Conduct constitutes protected speech 

only when (1) it reflects the intent to convey a specific message and (2) “the 

likelihood [i]s great that the message would be understood by those who viewed 

it.”  Spence v. Washington, 418 US 405, 410-11, 94 S Ct 2727, 41 L Ed 2d 842 

(1974).  The Kleins’ conduct fails this test.  

Notably, in this regard, the United States Supreme Court held in FAIR 

that violating a statutory right to equal accommodations does not receive free-
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speech protection even when the statement of the reason for the denial of equal 

treatment, if articulated, would receive free-speech protection.  That rule is 

dispositive here.   

The FAIR plaintiffs were law schools that sought to express their 

disapproval of the military’s “don’t ask, don’t tell” policy by excluding military 

recruiters from on-campus job fairs.  547 US at 52-53.  Because excluding the 

military violated a federal statute requiring colleges and universities to provide 

military recruiters with the same access to students as civilian employers 

receive, the law schools sued to have enforcement of the statute enjoined.  Id.  

They argued that the statute unconstitutionally compelled them to engage in the 

expressive conduct of showing support for the military and its policies by 

requiring the schools to facilitate meetings between military recruiters and 

students.  Id. at 60-61.  

The United States Supreme Court roundly rejected that argument.  It 

concluded that the act of denying access to military recruiters did not meet the 

second part of the Spence test because the absence of military recruiters from 

campus would not clearly convey to observers the schools’ message of 

disapprobation:  “An observer who sees military recruiters interviewing [off 

campus] has no way of knowing whether the law school is expressing its 

disapproval of the military, all the law school’s interview rooms are full, or the 

military recruiters decided for reasons of their own that they would rather 
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interview someplace else.”  Id. at 66.  Only a law school’s addition of 

explanatory speech—say, a poster or an email to students announcing that the 

school was excluding the military and explaining the reason why—would 

clearly alert onlookers to the message that the school meant to communicate.  

Id.  In fact, “that such explanatory speech is necessary is strong evidence that 

the conduct at issue * * * is not so inherently expressive that it warrants 

protection.”  Id. 

So too here.  Most wedding guests never know who made the cake, much 

less think about any message that the baker might have intended to convey 

through it.  If anything, they view the cake as the marrying couple’s choice of a 

traditional and tasty way to celebrate a momentous and joyous occasion.  Cf., 

e.g., Pleasant Grove City v. Summum, 555 US 460, 470-71, 129 S Ct 1125, 172 

L Ed 2d 853 (2009) (holding that monuments donated to a city and displayed in 

a public park were speech attributable to the city, not to the groups that 

designed, constructed, and donated the monuments).  And even those marrying 

couples, wedding guests, or bystanders who may actually know that the Kleins 

made the cake would not likely conclude that the Kleins were thereby taking 

any position on the propriety or impropriety of same-sex relationships—any 

more than customers and observers would think that selling a wedding cake 

communicates the Kleins’ belief that a marrying couple has optimal chemistry 

or compatible personalities, or even that marriage is a good or desirable social 
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institution in the first place.  Cf. Elane Photography, 309 P3d at 69 (“It is well 

known to the public that wedding photographers are hired by paying customers 

and * * * may not share the happy couple’s views[.]”).  

Indeed, if observers thought about it at all, they would likely conclude 

that, by selling a cake to any particular couple, the Kleins were merely 

maximizing their revenue by serving as many customers as possible—or 

perhaps that the Kleins were merely meeting their legal obligation to comply 

with state antidiscrimination laws.  See FAIR, 547 US at 65 (even “high school 

students can appreciate the difference between speech a school sponsors and 

speech the school permits * * * pursuant to an equal access policy”).  

The converse is also true:  Absent public declarations that the Kleins do 

not serve same-sex couples, the fact that their bakery was not the one that sold 

the cake to a particular couple does not by itself communicate to observers 

anything about why (or even whether) the bakery refused to provide the service.  

The company may have declined to serve the couple because it lacked sufficient 

stock or staff to fulfill the order, or the couple may simply have chosen a shop 

that offered lower prices, better service, or tastier, more attractive options.  

Only the addition of explanatory speech—such as a “homosexuals not 

welcome” sign in the bakery’s window—would cause observers to understand 

that the Kleins were refusing to provide service because they believe that 

relationships between same-sex couples are sinful.  See id. at 66 (“The 
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expressive component of a law school’s actions is not created by the conduct 

itself [i.e., disallowing military recruiters on its campus] but by the speech that 

accompanies it.”); see also Nev. Comm’n on Ethics v. Carrigan, 564 US 117, 

126-27, 131 S Ct 2343, 180 L Ed 2d 150 (2011) (legislator’s act of voting is not 

symbolic speech because, although the vote “discloses * * * [whether] the 

legislator wishes” that a measure be adopted, the act of casting a vote itself 

“symbolizes nothing”).  Under FAIR, therefore, refusing to sell cakes to same-

sex couples is not constitutionally protected expressive conduct.  

3. Oregon’s public-accommodations laws do not impede 
expressive association.  

Nor does requiring the Kleins to comply with Oregon’s public-

accommodations laws burden any First Amendment right to expressive 

association. 

To have a right to expressive association, a group must come together 

specifically to “engage in some form of expression.”  Boy Scouts of Am. v. 

Dale, 530 US 640, 648, 120 S Ct 2446, 147 L Ed 2d 554 (2000).  And even 

groups formed for expressive purposes may claim a deprivation of their 

expressive-association rights only if a law imposes “serious burdens” on the 

group’s “collective effort on behalf of [its] shared goals.”  Roberts v. U.S. 

Jaycees, 468 US 609, 622, 626, 104 S Ct 3244, 82 L Ed 2d 462 (1984) (holding 

that while Jaycees’ associational activities trigger First Amendment protection, 
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organization nevertheless had no constitutional right to discriminate against 

women in membership).  The Kleins meet neither requirement.  

Unlike organizations such as the Boy Scouts or the Jaycees, which were 

formed to promote particular values through the very act of expressive 

association, see Dale, 530 US at 648-50; Roberts, 468 US at 626-27, the Kleins’ 

bakery was established to provide baked goods in exchange for money.  The 

Kleins do not contend otherwise.  And the Kleins’ customers are, as with most 

any shop, typically strangers to one another (and, for that matter, to the shop’s 

owners).  The bakery therefore is not an expressive association.   

But even if it were, Oregon’s antidiscrimination statutes would still 

survive First Amendment scrutiny because they would not impair the bakery’s 

collective expression.  Roberts, 468 US at 622, 626.  Customers individually 

come to the Kleins’ bakery to buy cakes or other items in arm’s-length 

transactions; they do not band together with the Kleins and the other bakery 

customers to communicate or broadcast shared ideals collectively.  The Kleins’ 

interactions with customers are so short and discrete that observers are unlikely 

to confuse a customer’s views with those of the vendor, or vice versa.  See 

Stanglin, 490 US at 24-25 (holding that because patrons of a dance hall “are not 

members of any organized association” but are merely “patrons of the same 

business establishment,” they do not satisfy test for expressive association).   
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Because of this dynamic, the Supreme Court held in FAIR that no 

associational rights were violated by requiring the law schools to work with the 

military (and thereby to enable the military to communicate its messages to 

students) because the military recruiters were mere “outsiders who c[a]me onto 

campus for the limited purpose of trying to hire students—not to become 

members of the school’s expressive association.”  547 US at 69.  In the same 

way, couples buy wedding cakes not to bind themselves to and communicate 

the ideology of the bakery or its owners; they simply seek to serve their guests.  

The use to which couples may put the cake, once purchased, thus does not in 

any way implicate the bakers’ associational interests.  

Thus, courts routinely—and quite properly—reject association-based 

challenges when, as here, what is at issue are arm’s-length commercial 

transactions.  See, e.g., Priests for Life v. U.S. Dep’t of Health & Human Servs., 

772 F3d 229, 269-70 (DC Cir 2014) (“interacting with [insurance companies] 

that must make contraceptive coverage available * * * does not make those 

providers part of the organization’s expressive association or otherwise impair 

its ability to express its message”), vac’d and rem’d on other grounds sub nom 

Zubik v. Burwell, 578 US __, 136 S Ct 1557, 194 L Ed 2d 696 (2016) 

(remanding for supplemental briefing on whether parties may be able to settle 

statutory claims under federal Religious Freedom Restoration Act); Miller v. 

City of Cincinnati, 622 F3d 524, 538 (6th Cir 2010) (requiring groups to have a 
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city official as a sponsor in order to use space inside City Hall does not 

significantly burden right of expressive association); cf. Fields v. City of Tulsa, 

753 F3d 1000, 1012 (10th Cir 2014) (police officer’s freedom of expressive 

association not infringed by order to perform regular job duties at mosque 

because officer “was never required to be anything more than an outsider with 

respect to the [mosque]”), cert den, 135 S Ct 714 (2014). 

Indeed, as already noted, the United States Supreme Court has held that 

even outside the context of arm’s-length transactions, associations like the 

Rotary Club and Jaycees—organizations that historically denied membership to 

women—have no First Amendment right to discriminate unless they can 

“demonstrate that admitting” members of the excluded protected class “will 

affect in any significant way the existing members’ ability to carry out their 

various purposes.”  Bd. of Dirs. of Rotary Int’l v. Rotary Club of Duarte, 481 

US 537, 548, 107 S Ct 1940, 95 L Ed 2d 474 (1987); accord Roberts, 468 US at 

623.  The Kleins thus have no cognizable expressive-association claim here to 

refuse to “associate with” same-sex couples by selling them a cake, because 

nothing about being required to serve all patrons equally, regardless of sexual 

orientation, “affect[s] in any significant way” a bakery’s ability to sell cakes.  

Bd. of Dirs. of Rotary Int’l, 481 US at 548 (citation omitted). 
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CONCLUSION 

This court should affirm the BOLI Commissioner’s rulings that the 

Kleins violated ORS 659A.403 and ORS 659A.409, and that businesses do not 

a have constitutional right to discriminate on the basis of sexual orientation in 

contravention of Oregon’s neutral and generally applicable public-

accommodations laws.  
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KeyCite Yellow Flag - Negative Treatment

 Proposed Legislation

West's New Mexico Statutes Annotated
Chapter 28. Human Rights

Article 1. Human Rights Act (Refs & Annos)

N. M. S. A. 1978, § 28-1-7

§ 28-1-7. Unlawful discriminatory practice

Effective: July 14, 2008
Currentness

It is an unlawful discriminatory practice for:

A. an employer, unless based on a bona fide occupational qualification or other statutory prohibition, to refuse to
hire, to discharge, to promote or demote or to discriminate in matters of compensation, terms, conditions or privileges
of employment against any person otherwise qualified because of race, age, religion, color, national origin, ancestry,
sex, physical or mental handicap or serious medical condition, or, if the employer has fifty or more employees, spousal
affiliation; provided, however, that 29 U.S.C. Section 631(c)(1) and (2) shall apply to discrimination based on age; or,
if the employer has fifteen or more employees, to discriminate against an employee based upon the employee's sexual
orientation or gender identity;

B. a labor organization to exclude a person or to expel or otherwise discriminate against any of its members or against
any employer or employee because of race, religion, color, national origin, ancestry, sex, sexual orientation, gender
identity, spousal affiliation, physical or mental handicap or serious medical condition;

C. any employer, labor organization or joint apprenticeship committee to refuse to admit or employ any person in
any program established to provide an apprenticeship or other training or retraining because of race, religion, color,
national origin, ancestry, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, physical or mental handicap or serious medical
condition, or, if the employer has fifty or more employees, spousal affiliation;

D. any person, employer, employment agency or labor organization to print or circulate or cause to be printed or
circulated any statement, advertisement or publication, to use any form of application for employment or membership
or to make any inquiry regarding prospective membership or employment that expresses, directly or indirectly, any
limitation, specification or discrimination as to race, color, religion, national origin, ancestry, sex, sexual orientation,
gender identity, physical or mental handicap or serious medical condition, or, if the employer has fifty or more
employees, spousal affiliation, unless based on a bona fide occupational qualification;

E. an employment agency to refuse to list and properly classify for employment or refer a person for employment in
a known available job, for which the person is otherwise qualified, because of race, religion, color, national origin,
ancestry, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, spousal affiliation, physical or mental handicap or serious medical
condition, unless based on a bona fide occupational qualification, or to comply with a request from an employer
for referral of applicants for employment if the request indicates either directly or indirectly that the employer
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discriminates in employment on the basis of race, religion, color, national origin, ancestry, sex, sexual orientation,
gender identity, spousal affiliation, physical or mental handicap or serious medical condition, unless based on a bona
fide occupational qualification;

F. any person in any public accommodation to make a distinction, directly or indirectly, in offering or refusing to
offer its services, facilities, accommodations or goods to any person because of race, religion, color, national origin,
ancestry, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, spousal affiliation or physical or mental handicap, provided that the
physical or mental handicap is unrelated to a person's ability to acquire or rent and maintain particular real property
or housing accommodation;

G. any person to:

(1) refuse to sell, rent, assign, lease or sublease or offer for sale, rental, lease, assignment or sublease any housing
accommodation or real property to any person or to refuse to negotiate for the sale, rental, lease, assignment or
sublease of any housing accommodation or real property to any person because of race, religion, color, national
origin, ancestry, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, spousal affiliation or physical or mental handicap, provided
that the physical or mental handicap is unrelated to a person's ability to acquire or rent and maintain particular
real property or housing accommodation;

(2) discriminate against any person in the terms, conditions or privileges of the sale, rental, assignment, lease or
sublease of any housing accommodation or real property or in the provision of facilities or services in connection
therewith because of race, religion, color, national origin, ancestry, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, spousal
affiliation or physical or mental handicap, provided that the physical or mental handicap is unrelated to a person's
ability to acquire or rent and maintain particular real property or housing accommodation; or

(3) print, circulate, display or mail or cause to be printed, circulated, displayed or mailed any statement,
advertisement, publication or sign or use any form of application for the purchase, rental, lease, assignment or
sublease of any housing accommodation or real property or to make any record or inquiry regarding the prospective
purchase, rental, lease, assignment or sublease of any housing accommodation or real property that expresses any
preference, limitation or discrimination as to race, religion, color, national origin, ancestry, sex, sexual orientation,
gender identity, spousal affiliation or physical or mental handicap, provided that the physical or mental handicap is
unrelated to a person's ability to acquire or rent and maintain particular real property or housing accommodation;

H. any person to whom application is made either for financial assistance for the acquisition, construction,
rehabilitation, repair or maintenance of any housing accommodation or real property or for any type of consumer
credit, including financial assistance for the acquisition of any consumer good as defined by Section 55-9-102 NMSA
1978, to:

(1) consider the race, religion, color, national origin, ancestry, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, spousal
affiliation or physical or mental handicap of any individual in the granting, withholding, extending, modifying or
renewing or in the fixing of the rates, terms, conditions or provisions of any financial assistance or in the extension
of services in connection with the request for financial assistance; or
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(2) use any form of application for financial assistance or to make any record or inquiry in connection
with applications for financial assistance that expresses, directly or indirectly, any limitation, specification or
discrimination as to race, religion, color, national origin, ancestry, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, spousal
affiliation or physical or mental handicap;

I. any person or employer to:

(1) aid, abet, incite, compel or coerce the doing of any unlawful discriminatory practice or to attempt to do so;

(2) engage in any form of threats, reprisal or discrimination against any person who has opposed any unlawful
discriminatory practice or has filed a complaint, testified or participated in any proceeding under the Human Rights
Act; or

(3) willfully obstruct or prevent any person from complying with the provisions of the Human Rights Act or to resist,
prevent, impede or interfere with the commission or any of its members, staff or representatives in the performance
of their duties under the Human Rights Act; or

J. any employer to refuse or fail to accommodate a person's physical or mental handicap or serious medical condition,
unless such accommodation is unreasonable or an undue hardship.

Credits
L. 1969, Ch. 196, § 7; L. 1973, Ch. 58, § 1; L. 1973, Ch. 155, § 2; L. 1975, Ch. 62, § 1; L. 1983, Ch. 241, § 2; L. 1987,
Ch. 76, § 2; L. 1995, Ch. 125, § 1, eff. June 16, 1995; L. 2001, Ch. 347, § 1; L. 2003, Ch. 383, § 2, eff. July 1, 2003; L.
2004, Ch. 115, § 1, eff. July 1, 2004.

Formerly 1953 Comp., § 4-33-7.

Notes of Decisions (206)

NMSA 1978, § 28-1-7, NM ST § 28-1-7
Current through the end of the Second Regular Session of the 52nd Legislature (2016).

End of Document © 2016 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works.
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IN THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT 
FOR POLK COUNTY IOWA 

 
 
BETTY ANN ODGAARD and RICHARD 
ODGAARD, 
        
  Plaintiffs,    
v.    
 
IOWA CIVIL RIGHTS COMMISSION, et al., 
 
  Defendants.  
 

 
Civil Action No. _____________ 
 
 
 
VERIFIED PETITION 
 
Jury Demanded 

                                                         
INTRODUCTION 

1. Betty Ann and Richard Odgaard are Mennonites. 

2. Since 2002, they have run The Görtz Haus Gallery, which is an art gallery in a church 

building that they purchased to display and sell Betty’s and others’ art. The name of the Gallery 

references Betty Ann’s family name (“Görtz”) and her German-Mennonite ancestry (“haus” is 

German for “house”). 

3. The Odgaards also host other activities at the Gallery, such as a lunch bistro, a flower 

shop, a gift shop, and a framing shop. But the primary thing that they do is plan, facilitate, and 

host wedding ceremonies in the former sanctuary of the church building. 

4. The Odgaards consistently strive to operate the Gallery in a manner consistent with their 

faith. 

5. Indeed, as an expression of their faith, they have intentionally maintained and enhanced 

the church building’s religious character. 

6. Almost all of the original stained glass windows remain in place, depicting the Gospels 

and various religious symbols. Latin crosses and memorial plaques adorn the walls inside and 
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outside the church building. The Odgaards have had a scriptural verse painted in a prominent 

location across the back of the old sanctuary. Many of the artworks in the Gallery also express 

the Odgaards’ faith. 

7. The Odgaards welcome all customers into the Gallery, regardless of their race, creed, 

color, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, national origin, religion, or disability.  

8. The Odgaards cannot, however, host activities or display art that would violate their 

religious beliefs. 

9. The Iowa Civil Rights Commission (“ICRC”) is now seeking to force the Odgaards to 

plan, facilitate, and host same-sex wedding ceremonies at the Gallery. 

10. But although the Odgaards have willingly hired and served gays and lesbians throughout 

the Gallery’s history, their religious beliefs prevent them from planning, facilitating, or hosting 

same-sex wedding ceremonies at the Gallery. 

11. The Odgaards may be exposed to financial punishment and other forms of official 

coercion for refusing to abandon their religious convictions to comply with the ICRC’s dictates. 

The ICRC’s attempt to force the Odgaards to host events in violation of their religious beliefs is 

a violation of the Iowa Civil Rights Act and infringes rights protected by Free Exercise, Free 

Speech, and Equal Protection provisions of the Iowa and United States Constitutions.   

12. Accordingly, the Odgaards seek a declaratory judgment that the ICRC lacks authority to 

force them to plan, facilitate, or host wedding ceremonies that violate their religious beliefs. 

IDENTIFICATION OF PARTIES 

13. Plaintiffs Betty Ann (“Betty”) and Richard Odgaard are the sole proprietors of The Görtz 

Haus Gallery, an unincorporated business. 
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14. Defendant Iowa Civil Rights Commission is an agency of the State of Iowa charged with 

enforcing the Iowa Civil Rights Act, Iowa Code Ann. § 216.1, et seq. 

15. Defendant Angela Williams is the Chair of the Iowa Civil Rights Commission and is sued 

in her official capacity only. 

16. Defendant Patricia Lipski is the Vice Chair of the Iowa Civil Rights Commission and is 

sued in her official capacity only. 

17. Defendants Mary Ann Spicer, Tom Conley, Douglas Oelschlaeger, Lily Lijun Hou, and 

Lawrence Cunningham are each members of the Iowa Civil Rights Commission and are sued in 

their official capacities only. 

18. All of the Defendants are persons acting under color of state law within the meaning of 

42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

The Odgaards and their Mennonite Faith 

19. Betty Odgaard is a Mennonite. Both of her parents were Mennonites, and her father was 

an ordained Mennonite Brethren minister. She spent much of her childhood at church or 

otherwise engaged in religious activity. 

20. Betty is also an artist. Her art, which comprises primarily oil paintings, is inspired in 

significant part by her religious beliefs. 

21. Richard Odgaard was baptized a Lutheran, but has attended the Mennonite Church with 

his wife from the time they were married. 

22. The Odgaards’ church is part of the Mennonite Church USA, which is one of several 

Mennonite denominations in the United States. 
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23. The Odgaards’ faith permeates their life, and, consistent with Mennonite teaching, they 

strive to be faithful to it both privately and publicly, both at home and at work. See, e.g., 

Mennonite Church USA Confession of Faith, Art. 17, Discipleship and the Christian Life, 

available at http://www.mennoniteusa.org/about/confession-of-faith-in-a-mennonite-perspective-

1995/article-17-discipleship/ (last visited Sept. 28, 2013) (“In all areas of life, we are called to be 

Jesus’ disciples”); see also U.S. Mennonite Brethren Confession of Faith, Art. 6, Nature of the 

Church, available at http://www.usmb.org/confession-of-faith---detailed-version#Article 11 (last 

visited Sept. 28, 2013) (Mennonites “commit themselves to follow Christ in a life of discipleship 

and witness as empowered by the Holy Spirit”). 

24. Obeying their Mennonite beliefs is a necessary part of their faith and of growing closer 

to God. See Mennonite Church USA Confession of Faith, Art. 17, supra (“True faith in Christ 

means willingness to do the will of God . . . . [A]s we follow Christ in our lives, we are brought 

into closer relationship with God, and Christ dwells in us.”).  

25. Mennonites have a long history of being persecuted by the government for their faith—

many of their founders were beheaded or burned at the stake for their beliefs, and they have often 

suffered official persecution through the centuries for remaining true to the traditional Mennonite 

practices of pacifism and refusal to take oaths. Mennonite theology thus emphasizes the need to 

firmly adhere to Mennonite beliefs despite government coercion. See, e.g., Mennonite Church 

USA Confession of Faith, Art. 23, The Church’s Relation to Government and Society (“[W]e are 

to respect those in authority and to pray for all people, including those in government . . . . We 

may participate in government and other institutions of society only in ways that do not violate 

the love and holiness taught by Christ and do not compromise our loyalty to Christ.”). Indeed, 
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the Mennonite church that the Odgaards attend was founded by young men who were doing 

alternative service due to their pacifism-based conscientious objector status.  

The Görtz Haus Gallery  

26. The Odgaards are sole proprietors of The Görtz Haus Gallery, an unincorporated 

business. The name of the Gallery is derived from Betty’s family name, Görtz, combined with 

the German word for house. 

27. The Odgaards live next door to the Gallery and spend much of their time there. With a 

staff of fewer than four full-time employees, they are directly responsible for and involved in all 

the day-to-day operations of the Gallery. 

28. The Gallery is housed entirely in an old stone Lutheran church building.  A picture of 

the Gallery is attached as Exhibit A. 

29. From 1937, when it was built, until 2001, the building served as the home of St. Peter 

Lutheran Church.  

30. The building was put up for sale after St. Peter’s outgrew it and moved to a new 

location.  

31. A corporation originally sought to purchase the church to replace it with a gas station, 

but the plan fell through because of strong community support for the Odgaards’ offer to 

purchase and maintain the building.  

32. Long drawn to the building’s religious and physical aesthetics, the Odgaards purchased 

it in 2002 for use as an art gallery.  
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33. The art is displayed primarily in the old sanctuary—the building’s largest space, where 

worship services had previously been held. See Exhibits B-1, B-2, and B-3 (photographs of the 

sanctuary). Much of the art displayed in the Gallery is Betty’s own work. 

34. Almost all of the events and activities that the Odgaards host, including all of the 

wedding ceremonies, are held in the old sanctuary. See id. (depicting sanctuary arranged to host 

wedding ceremonies). 

35. Wedding ceremonies are the primary event hosted at the Gallery and the leading source 

of the Odgaards’ income from the Gallery. 

36. The bistro, framing shop, and gift shop are found in the former foyer and in the back of 

the sanctuary. The flower shop is in the basement. The old Sunday School rooms, hallways, and 

stairwells are also full of art and gift shop items.  

37. While updating the old church building to accommodate the Gallery, the Odgaards have 

deliberately retained the religious symbolism that was in the church when they purchased it. 

They have also added some of their own religious imagery.  

38. Almost all of the original stained glass windows remain in the sanctuary. Each of the 

eight remaining stained glass windows has three distinct panels, and each panel contains a 

religious image, such as a Latin cross, an icon symbolizing a Gospel writer, or a statement about 

Christian doctrine. See Exhibits C-1, C-2, and C-3. There is a small seating area in the old choir 

loft at the back of sanctuary. The railing in that area is decorated with Latin crosses. See Exhibit 

D. The basic structure of the sanctuary also retains the characteristics of a church, including the 

cathedral ceiling. See Exhibit B-2 (depicting sanctuary).    
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39. When St. Peter Lutheran Church sold the building to the Odgaards, the congregation 

removed the stained glass windows that were at the front of the church sanctuary. To retain the 

religious reverence that those windows helped convey, Betty created faux stained glass windows 

as replacements. See, e.g., Exhibit B-1. 

40. The outside of the building is also visibly religious. There are Latin crosses carved into 

the building’s external stonework, displayed at the highest point of the building, which is directly 

above the entrance. See Exhibit E. There is also a Latin cross in the stained glass of one of the 

exterior doors near the entrance. See Exhibit F.  

41. The Odgaards have placed a large wrought-iron Latin cross against the outside wall near 

the Gallery’s entrance. 

42. The Odgaards display religious art in the Gallery. Some art is by local artists and 

depicts, among other things, Bible verses superimposed on images of everday tools and tasks. 

Other art includes classic religious images, like Celtic crosses and a print of Leonardo da Vinci’s 

The Virgin Child with Saint Anne and St. John the Baptist. Smaller pieces are available in the gift 

shop, including ornaments and plaques decorated with Bible verses and religious images on 

cards and coffee cups.  

43. The Odgaards had the text of Psalm 1:19 prominently painted across the wall in the 

sanctuary: “The heavens declare the glory of God: the skies proclaim the work of his hands.” See 

Exhibit G. The Odgaards added that verse to publicly express that they are people of faith and 

that the Gallery is an important part of how they express their faith. 

44. That the building itself is identifiably a church building is a fact frequently noted by, and 

discussed with, visitors. 
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45. People often visit the church to reminisce about childhood experiences or family events 

that took place at the church, to find the names of loved ones on the memorial plaques that still 

adorn the walls, or to see their old Sunday School room or other aspects of the church. 

46. Many local families have chosen to have family pictures taken at the Gallery because 

they wanted to have the church building’s religious symbols as the backdrop. Some couples have 

selected the Gallery for their wedding ceremony specifically because of the building’s religious 

significance and appearance. 

47. Indeed, the congregation of St. Peter’s held a worship service at the Gallery in 2009 as 

part of their celebration of St. Peter’s 125th anniversary.  

48. The Odgaards intentionally seek to preserve the church’s religious character as a 

deliberate expression of their personal faith. 

49. Because the Odgaards seek to consistently manifest both their artistic views and 

religious beliefs through the Gallery, they have never hosted an event or accepted art for display 

that conflicts with their religious beliefs.  

Wedding Ceremonies 

50. The Odgaards are intimately involved in the day-to-day operations of their business, 

particularly the wedding ceremonies they host. 

51. Either Betty or Richard personally meets with every couple that wishes to have a 

wedding at the Gallery, sitting down with the couple to plan their event—the schedule, flowers, 

decor, food, and activities that will best express how the couple wishes to celebrate their 

wedding.  
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52. On the day of the wedding, the Odgaards walk over from their house early in the 

morning to personally set up the sanctuary for the ceremony.  

53. They witness and participate in the entire ceremony in a number of different ways. Betty 

helps plan and provide the food and wedding decor. Richard typically oversees the entire 

ceremony while running the sound system. They both clean up the sanctuary after each 

ceremony. 

54. On a number of occasions they have recommended a pastor to officiate at weddings 

performed at the Gallery. 

55. The Odgaards view wedding ceremonies as religiously significant events that by their 

very nature communicate specific messages about the meaning of marriage.   

56. The Odgaards’ religious beliefs place great emphasis on the inherent religious 

significance of marriage and, thus, wedding ceremonies.  

57. The Odgaards’ religious beliefs require them to maintain this respect for wedding 

ceremonies as religiously significant events, regardless of what the law might recognize as a civil 

marriage. 

58. Thus, the Odgaards’ religious beliefs forbid them from planning, facilitating, or hosting 

wedding ceremonies that contradict their religious understanding of marriage. They cannot 

personally plan, facilitate, or host such a ceremony.  

59. Further, the Odgaards believe that wedding ceremonies are inherently expressive events 

as public celebrations that symbolically unite two people, with witnesses and officiants both to 

observe and publicly affirm what the couples are communicating to each other and to the 

community. 
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60. As the Iowa Supreme Court recognized in Varnum v. Brien, wedding ceremonies 

communicate “to society,” and call upon society to provide “public affirmation” of the parties’ 

“mutual commitment.” 763 N.W.2d 862, 872-73 (2009). 

61. Iowa law regulates certain aspects of wedding ceremonies. For instance, Iowa law 

punishes attempts to solemnize a marriage without a public license, whether by the parties to the 

wedding or any persons aiding them. See Iowa Stat. Ann. §§ 595.3, 595.9. 

62. Because the Odgaards believe that marriage ceremonies communicate a powerful social, 

religious, and legal message, they sincerely believe it would be sinful for them to personally 

plan, facilitate, or host a wedding ceremony that contradicts their religious beliefs. See, e.g., 

Mennonite Church USA Confession of Faith, Art. 23, The Church’s Relation to Government and 

Society (“We may participate in . . . society only in ways that do not violate the love and holiness 

taught by Christ and do not compromise our loyalty to Christ.”). 

63. Further, publicly associating with a wedding ceremony that violates their beliefs would 

send a message to others who share their beliefs, including some of their employees, that those 

beliefs are untrue or unworthy of devotion, and thereby cause those others to sin. Id. (noting that 

Mennonites are called to “witness” to others by being a “‘city on a hill’ which demonstrates the 

way of Christ.”); see also Romans 14:13 (“[M]ake up your mind not to put any stumbling block 

or obstacle in the way of a brother or sister” and thus cause them to sin.).    

64. The Odgaards adhere to the traditional Mennonite belief that marriage is a religious 

covenant ordained by God that can only exist between a man and a woman. See, e.g., Mennonite 

Church USA, Confession of Faith, Article 19, Family, Singleness, and Marriage, available at 

http://www.mennoniteusa.org/about/confession-of-faith-in-a-mennonite-perspective-
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1995/article-19-marriage/ (last visited Sept. 28, 2013) (“We believe that God intends marriage to 

be a covenant between one man and one woman for life.”); see also U.S. Mennonite Brethren 

Confessions of Faith, Article 11, Marriage, Singleness, and Family, available at 

http://www.usmb.org/confession-of-faith---detailed-version#Article 11 (last visited Sept. 28, 

2013) (“Marriage is a covenant relationship intended to unite a man and a woman for life.”). 

65. The Odgaards have always intended to use the Gallery consistent with their religious 

beliefs. They would sooner shut down the Gallery than violate those beliefs. They had no 

concern that they would not be able to operate the Gallery according to their religious beliefs 

when they purchased it in 2002.  

The Iowa Civil Rights Act 

66. The Iowa Civil Rights Act prohibits certain forms of discrimination in places of public 

accommodation, in employment, housing, and education, and in the provision of credit. Iowa 

Code § 216.1, et seq. 

67. With respect to places of public accommodation, the law provides that “[i]t shall be an 

unfair or discriminatory practice for any . . . proprietor . . . of any public accommodation or any 

agent or employee thereof: (a) [t]o refuse or deny to any person because of race, creed, color, 

sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, national origin, religion, or disability the 

accommodations, advantages, facilities, services, or privileges thereof, or otherwise to 

discriminate against any person because of race, creed, color, sex, sexual orientation, gender 

identity, national origin, religion, or disability in the furnishing of such accommodations, 

advantages, facilities, services, or privileges.” § 216.7(1)(a). 
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68. The law further provides that it shall also be an “unfair or discriminatory practice” to 

“directly or indirectly advertise or in any other manner indicate or publicize that the patronage of 

persons of any particular race, creed, color, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, national 

origin, religion, or disability is unwelcome, objectionable, not acceptable, or not solicited.” 

§ 216.7(1)(b). 

69. These prohibitions under the law are not generally applicable to all persons in Iowa. 

70. The public accommodations provisions do not apply to “[a]ny bona fide religious 

institution with respect to any qualifications the institution may impose based upon religion, 

sexual orientation, or gender identity when such qualifications are related to a bona fide religious 

purpose.” § 216.7(2)(a). 

71. They also do not apply to “[t]he rental or leasing to transient individuals of less than six 

rooms within a single housing accommodation by the occupant or owner of such housing 

accommodation if the occupant or owner or members of that person’s family reside therein.” § 

216.7(2)(b). 

72. The Act includes similar exemptions in the contexts of employment, education, and 

housing. See, e.g., § 216.12(1) (permitting housing discrimination by religious institutions in 

certain circumstances, and by landlords who live with or near their renters).    

73. None of the prohibitions against discrimination apply to employers who “regularly 

employ[] less than four individuals,” excluding family members. § 216.6(6)(a). 

74. None of the prohibitions apply to employers who employ individuals to work inside the 

employer’s family residence or to provide personal services to the employer’s family. § 

216.6(6)(b)-(c). 
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75. “Bona fide” religious institutions and their associated educational facilities are exempt 

from the prohibitions against discrimination in employment or education on grounds of religion, 

sexual orientation, or gender identity, as long as they have a “bona fide religious purpose” for 

such discrimination. §§ 216.6(6)(d), 216.9(2). 

76. “Bona fide” religious institutions are also exempt from prohibitions against 

discrimination in housing on the basis of religion, sexual orientation, or gender identity, unless 

the housing at issue is a commercial property or the religion restricts membership on the basis of 

race, color, or national origin.  § 216.12(1)(a). 

77. The Iowa Civil Rights Act expressly provides that it “shall not be construed to allow 

marriage between persons of the same sex, in accordance with chapter 595.” § 216.18.  

78. Chapter 595 provides that “[o]nly a marriage between a male and female is valid.” 

§ 595.2(1). 

79. This limitation on construing the Iowa Civil Rights Act was added by amendment in 

2007 at the same time the prohibition against sexual orientation discrimination was added.  

80. Thus, the Legislature clearly expressed its intent, through the express terms of the Iowa 

Civil Rights Act, that refusal to participate in or accommodate a same-sex marriage cannot on its 

own be considered sexual orientation discrimination.  

81. The Iowa Civil Rights Act’s exemptions for “bona fide” religious institutions expressly 

acknowledge there are “bona fide religious purpose[s]” for making certain decisions on the basis 

of religion, sexual orientation, and gender identity. 
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82. In light of these qualifications and exemptions, the Act’s prohibition against sexual 

orientation discrimination cannot be construed to reach actions taken to avoid personally 

planning, facilitating, or hosting a same-sex wedding ceremony for reasons of conscience. 

83. Although Iowa’s statutory definition of marriage has been held unconstitutional by the 

Iowa Supreme Court in Varnum, 763 N.W.2d at 872, the Iowa Civil Rights Act has not been 

amended to require private citizens and businesses to participate in or otherwise facilitate same-

sex wedding ceremonies. 

84. In fact, since the Varnum decision, the Legislature has passed legislation regarding § 

216.18, but has never called into question § 216.18’s validity. See Acts 2009 (83 G.A.) ch. 133, 

S.F. 449, § 192, subsec.2 (redesignating § 216.18A as § 216.18(2)) (effective July 1, 2009); 

compare to Varnum, 763 N.W.2d 862 (issued on April 3, 2009). 

The ICRC’s Attempt to Force the Odgaards to Violate Their Beliefs 

85. On or about August 3, 2013, a same-sex couple from Des Moines requested that the 

Odgaards to host their wedding ceremony at the Gallery. 

86. The Odgaards declined the request. 

87. They did so because their religion forbids them from personally planning, facilitating, or 

hosting wedding ceremonies not between one man and one woman. 

88. Their decision was also based on their desire not to use the Gallery to host a wedding 

ceremony that conflicts with the religious message they seek to convey through the Gallery, a 

message which includes the importance of living one’s faith in all aspects of life. 
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89. The Odgaards also did not wish to require the Gallery staff—some of whom are 

members of the Brethren faith and almost all whom the Odgaards believed would have religious 

objections—to participate in a same-sex wedding ceremony against their consciences. 

90. After the Odgaards declined to host the same-sex wedding ceremony, the couple 

continued to look for another venue and found an alternative location within days.  

91. On information and belief, there are well over fifty locations in Polk County that 

advertise that they host weddings.   

92. At least two websites focus solely on supporting same-sex weddings in Iowa, 

advertising for venues, caterers, and other entities that want to plan, facilitate, or host same-sex 

weddings: http://www.iowasgayweddingplanner.com/services/?regionID=1 (last visited October 

1, 2013), and http://www.engaygedweddings.com/ia/ia-gay-ceremony-sites.html  (lasted visited 

October 1, 2013). The two sites list at least nine venues in Des Moines, Iowa, that specifically 

advertise willingness to host same-sex weddings and that are closer to the same-sex couple’s 

residence than the Gallery. 

93. The Odgaards have never discriminated against anyone at the Gallery because of his or 

her sexual orientation.  

94. The Odgaards have hired gays and lesbians at the Gallery without regard to their sexual 

orientation. 

95. The Odgaards have provided goods and services to gays and lesbians at the Gallery 

without regard to their sexual orientation. 

96. The Odgaards’ decision not to plan, facilitate, or host wedding ceremonies that violate 

their religious beliefs is an action taken without regard to the sexual orientation of any potential 
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customers. Their decision is instead based on a religious conviction against personally and 

publicly promoting activities that violate their religious beliefs. 

97. On August 4, 2013, the day after the Odgaards declined to host the same-sex wedding 

ceremony at the Gallery, the couple filed a complaint against the Odgaards with the Iowa Civil 

Rights Commission. 

98. The Odgaards were served with the complaint via U.S. mail on August 24, 2013.  

99. The complaint had been originally mailed to the wrong address on August 9, and was 

resent to the correct address on August 23. 

100. The complaint alleges that the Odgaards discriminated against the couple based on the 

couple’s sexual orientation. 

101. The Odgaards have been targeted with hateful and threatening email messages, Internet 

postings, and phone calls because of their decision on religious grounds not to host same-sex 

weddings. See, e.g., Exhibit H at 1 (“Betty, you’re very old and almost dead. How do you both 

feel, knowing that America, and the world, will be a better place without you?”); id. at 2 (“You 

are mean, rude, selfish, mother f***er racist sons of b****es from hell . . . f**k your God f**k 

your religion . . . You are so lucky you did not do that to me cause if you did, I would blast you 

big time and sue you’re a** in court . . . Soon very bad things will happen to you. . . . You are 

finished[.] You are doomed[.] I warned you.”); id. at 3 (“No, you don’t get to have your beliefs, 

not if you’re going to run a business that is open to the public. And that’s what you do—hello, 

lawsuit!”); id. at 5 (“You, Ms. Betty Odgaard, owner of Gortz Haus are now known to be the 

Bigot that you are. . . I’m a Christian and I’m ashamed of you . . . I know [who] Christ is . . . he 

ate with prostitutes . . . you just prostitute his word to promote your Bigotry.”); id. at 6 (“I have 
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no doubt you hate gay people . . . I don’t envy you the hell that you’re going to have to pay for 

what you’ve done here.”); id. at 9 (“I just read about your disgraceful practice of discrimination 

against gay couples. If you are opposed to same sex marriage, don’t have one. . . . How would 

you feel if I decided to discriminate against Mennonites because they offend my religious 

convictions?”); id. at 10 (“You people and people like you make me so mad. But there will come 

a time when you have to answer for your hate.”). 

102. Income from hosting wedding ceremonies is vital to the economic survival of the 

Gallery. 

103. Despite the devastating impact it would have on their business, the Odgaards’ religious 

convictions would require them to stop hosting any wedding ceremonies rather than knowingly 

host wedding ceremonies that violate their religious beliefs. 

104. The Odgaards currently have a reasonable expectation that the legal action filed against 

them will force them to either stop hosting weddings or violate their religious convictions. 

105. On information and belief, the Iowa Civil Rights Commission interprets the sexual 

orientation non-discrimination law to ban their religious decision not to host same-sex wedding 

ceremonies. 

106. The Odgaards are already experiencing a chill on their private religious speech and 

expressive conduct.  

107. For instance, to avoid similar situations in the future, the Odgaards want to make 

positive statements on the Gallery website, on the Gallery’s Facebook page, and by means of the 

art in the Gallery that affirm and celebrate their religious belief that marriage is a union between 
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a man and a woman. But they reasonably fear that such statements may be deemed a violation of 

the Iowa Civil Rights Act.  

108. Also, the Odgaards have suffered significantly because of their religious and expressive 

decision not to host same-sex weddings. The threat of legal action and the derogatory messages 

directed toward the Odgaards because of their decision have been hurtful and demoralizing on a 

personal level. 

109. This coercion and chill violates the Odgaards’ rights protected under the Iowa 

Constitution, Iowa statutes, and First and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States 

Constitution. 

COUNT I 
Violation of the Iowa Civil Rights Act 

Statutory Construction 

110. The Iowa Civil Rights Act expressly provides that it does not prohibit decisions not to 

facilitate same-sex marriage. 

111. The Iowa Civil Rights Act was specifically intended to preserve the right not to facilitate 

same-sex wedding ceremonies on religious grounds. 

112. Construing the Iowa Civil Rights Act to authorize legal action against persons for 

refusing on religious grounds to plan, facilitate, host,  or otherwise personally participate in a 

same-sex wedding ceremony would violate the plain terms of the Iowa Civil Rights Act. 

113. Absent injunctive and declaratory relief on the grounds that the Iowa Civil Rights Act 

cannot be construed to authorize legal action against persons refusing to plan, facilitate, or host a 

same-sex wedding ceremony, the Odgaards have been and will continue to be harmed. 
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COUNT II 
Violation of the Iowa Civil Rights Act 

Statutory Elements Not Met 

114. The Iowa Civil Rights Act prohibits places of public accommodation from 

discriminating on the basis of sexual orientation. 

115. Declining to plan, facilitate, or host a same-sex wedding ceremony does not, by itself, 

constitute discrimination on the basis of sexual orientation. 

116. The Odgaards have never discriminated against their customers or employees on the 

basis of sexual orientation. 

117. The Odgaards have made all employment decisions regarding all job applicants and 

employees without regard to sexual orientation. 

118. The Odgaards have served all customers without regard to sexual orientation. 

119. The Odgaards’ decision not to host same-sex wedding ceremonies is based solely on 

their sincerely held religious beliefs that do not permit them to personally plan, facilitate, 

sponsor, or host a wedding ceremony between any persons other than one man and one woman.  

120. The Odgaards have made this decision without regard to sexual orientation. 

121. Absent injunctive and declaratory relief on the grounds that the Odgaards have not 

engaged in sexual orientation discrimination, the Odgaards have been and will continue to be 

harmed. 

COUNT III 
Violation of Iowa Constitution Article I, § 3 

Free Exercise of Religion 
 

122. Article I, § 3 of the Iowa Constitution provides that “[t]he general assembly shall make 

no law . . . prohibiting the free exercise [of religion] . . . .” 
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123. The Odgaard’s religious beliefs forbid them from personally helping plan, facilitating, 

or hosting a wedding ceremony that violates their religious beliefs. 

124. The Odgaard’s refusal to host same-sex wedding ceremonies is an exercise of religion. 

125. Forcing the Odgaards to host a same-sex wedding ceremony or face substantial 

government coercion would substantially burden their free exercise of religion. 

126. A decree forcing the Odgaards to host a same-sex wedding ceremony would not be 

narrowly tailored to accomplishing a compelling government interest. 

127. Forcing the Odgaards to host a same-sex wedding ceremony would violate the rights 

secured to them by Article I, § 3 of the Iowa Constitution. 

128. Absent injunctive and declaratory relief against Defendants’ threatened enforcement of 

the Iowa Civil Rights Act, the Odgaards have been and will continue to be harmed. 

COUNT IV 
Violation of Iowa Constitution Article I, § 4 

No Punishment for Religious Beliefs 

129. Article I, § 4 of the Iowa Constitution provides that “no person shall be deprived of any 

of his rights, privileges, or capacities, or disqualified from the performance of any of his public 

or private duties . . . in consequence of his opinions on the subject of religion[.]”  

130. It is the Odgaards’ religious opinion that it would be morally wrong for them to 

personally plan, facilitate, or host any wedding ceremony not between a man and a woman.  

131. Applying the Iowa Civil Rights Act against the Odgaards for refusing to host a same-

sex wedding ceremony would punish them for their religious opinions concerning marriage in 

violation of the rights secured to them by Article I, § 4 of the Iowa Constitution. 
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132. Absent injunctive and declaratory relief against Defendants’ threatened enforcement of 

the Iowa Civil Rights Act, the Odgaards have been and will continue to be harmed. 

COUNT V 
Violation of Iowa Constitution Article I, § 7 

Free Speech 

133. Applying the Iowa Civil Rights Act to the Odgaards would compel them to personally 

plan, facilitate, and host a ceremony that is a violation of their religious beliefs. 

134. The Odgaards believe that wedding ceremonies are inherently expressive and have 

religious significance. 

135. Through their business activities, the Odgaards seek to consistently express both their 

artistic and religious values to their visitors. 

136. Forcing the Odgaards to personally plan, facilitate, and host a same-sex wedding 

ceremony would force the Odgaards to convey and promote to their customers and to the public 

a message with which they disagree. 

137. Defendants’ actions thus would violate the Odgaards’ right to be free from compelled 

speech as secured to them by Article I, § 7 of the Iowa Constitution. 

138. Defendants’ compelled speech requirement is not narrowly tailored to accomplish a 

compelling governmental interest. 

139. Absent injunctive and declaratory relief against such compelled speech, the Odgaards 

have been and will continue to be harmed. 
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COUNT VI 
Violation of Iowa Constitution Article 1, § 7 

Expressive Association 
 

140. Applying the Iowa Civil Rights Act to the Odgaards would compel them to personally 

plan, facilitate, and host an expressive event that they believe violates the religious covenant of 

marriage. 

141. Through their activities at the Gallery, the Odgaards seek to express both their artistic 

and religious views to their visitors. 

142. The Odgaards believe that wedding ceremonies are inherently expressive and have 

inescapable religious significance. 

143. Forcing the Odgaards to personally plan, facilitate, and host a same-sex wedding 

ceremony would force the Odgaards to associate themselves with and promote a message with 

which they disagree and which runs contrary to the expressive purposes for which they operate 

the Gallery. 

144. Defendants’ actions thus would violate the Odgaards’ right of expressive association 

as secured to them by Article 1, § 7 of the Iowa Constitution. 

145. Absent injunctive and declaratory relief against the Iowa Civil Rights Act, the 

Odgaards have been and will continue to be harmed. 

COUNT VII 
Violation of Iowa Constitution Article I, § 7  

Chilled Speech 

146. The Odgaards wish to publicly express their religious beliefs on what marriage is. 
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147. The Odgaards want to express these beliefs by stating them on the Gallery website and 

Facebook page, and through appropriate artwork and Scripture references on the walls of the 

sanctuary in the Gallery. 

148. The Iowa Civil Rights Act states that it is an “unfair or discriminatory practice” to 

“directly or indirectly advertise or in any other manner indicate or publicize that the patronage of 

persons of any particular race, creed, color, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, national 

origin, religion, or disability is unwelcome, objectionable, not acceptable, or not solicited.” 

149. The Odgaards reasonably fear that any statements of their religious beliefs that affirms 

their religious view of marriage would be understood by Defendants as “directly or indirectly” 

advertising, indicating, or publicizing that they object to the patronage of some persons based on 

their sexual orientation, even though that is not true. The Odgaards are thus chilled from 

exercising their right to free speech as guaranteed to them by Article I, § 7 of the Iowa 

Constitution. 

150. Absent injunctive and declaratory relief against such compelled speech, the Odgaards 

have been and will continue to be harmed. 

COUNT VIII 
Violation of the First Amendment to the United States Constitution 

Free Exercise Clause 
 

151. The Odgaards’ sincerely held religious beliefs prohibit them from facilitating, 

supporting, profiting from, or personally participating in a wedding ceremony between anyone 

other than one man and one woman. 

152. The Odgaards’ sincerely held religious beliefs thus prohibit them from personally 

helping plan, facilitating, or hosting a same-sex wedding ceremony. 
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153. The Odgaards’ compliance with these religious beliefs constitutes a religious exercise. 

154. The Iowa Civil Rights Act, facially and as applied by Defendants, is not generally 

applicable. 

155. The Iowa Civil Rights Act as applied by the Defendants is not facially or operationally 

neutral. 

156. The Iowa Civil Rights Act includes categorical exemptions to its prohibition against 

discrimination on the basis of sexual orientation. 

157. The Defendants have no compelling interest in forcing the Odgaards to host same-sex 

wedding ceremonies. 

158. Forcing the Odgaards to host same-sex wedding ceremonies in violation of their 

religious beliefs would not actually further any interests Defendants might assert. 

159. Forcing the Odgaards to host same-sex wedding ceremonies in violation of their 

religious beliefs would not be the least restrictive means available to Defendants of furthering 

any interests Defendants might assert. 

160. Construing the Iowa Civil Rights Act to force the Odgaards to host same-sex weddings 

would create government-imposed coercive pressure on the Odgaards to change or violate their 

religious beliefs. 

161. Construing the Iowa Civil Rights Act to force the Odgaards to host same-sex weddings 

would chill the Odgaards religious exercise. 

162. Construing the Iowa Civil Rights Act to force the Odgaards to host same-sex weddings 

would violate the Odgaards’ rights secured to them by the Free Exercise Clause of the First 

Amendment of the United States Constitution. 
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163. Absent injunctive and declaratory relief against such a construction of the Iowa Civil 

Rights Act, the Odgaards have been and will continue to be harmed. 

COUNT IX 
Violation of the First Amendment to the United States Constitution 

Free Speech Clause 
Compelled Speech 

164. Applying the Iowa Civil Rights Act to the Odgaards would compel them to personally 

plan, facilitate, sponsor, and host a ceremony that they believe violates a religious covenant. 

165. The Odgaards believe that wedding ceremonies are inherently expressive and have 

religious significance. 

166. Through their activities at the Gallery, the Odgaards seek to express both their artistic 

and religious values to their visitors. 

167. Forcing the Odgaards to personally plan, facilitate, and host a same-sex wedding 

ceremony would force them to convey and promote to their customers and to the public a 

message with which they disagree. 

168. Defendants’ actions thus would violate the Odgaards’ right to be free from compelled 

speech as secured to them by the First Amendment of the United States Constitution. 

169. Compelling the Odgaards to convey messages that they disagree with is not narrowly 

tailored to a compelling governmental interest. 

170. Absent injunctive and declaratory relief against such compelled speech, the Odgaards 

have been and will continue to be harmed. 
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COUNT X 
Violation of the First Amendment to the United States Constitution 

Freedom of Speech 
Expressive Association 

 
171. Applying the Iowa Civil Rights Act to the Odgaards would compel them to personally 

plan, facilitate, and host an expressive event that they believe violates a religious covenant. 

172. Through their business activities, the Odgaards seek to express both their artistic and 

religious views to their customers. 

173. The Odgaards believe that wedding ceremonies are inherently expressive and have 

inescapable religious significance. 

174. Causing the Odgaards to personally plan, facilitate, sponsor, and host same-sex 

wedding ceremonies would force them to associate with and promote a message with which they 

disagree and which runs contrary to the expressive purposes for which they operate the Gallery. 

175. Defendants’ actions thus would violate the Odgaards’ right of expressive association as 

secured to them by the First Amendment of the United States Constitution. 

176. Absent injunctive and declaratory relief against the Iowa Civil Rights Act, the 

Odgaards have been and will continue to be harmed. 

COUNT XI 
Violation of the First Amendment to the United States Constitution 

Free Speech Clause 
Chilled Speech 

177. The Odgaards wish to publicly express their religious beliefs on what marriage is. 

178. The Odgaards want to express this belief by stating it on the Gallery website and 

Facebook page, and through appropriate artwork and Scripture references on the walls of the 

sanctuary in the Görtz Haus Gallery. 
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179. The Iowa Civil Rights Act states that it is an “unfair or discriminatory practice” to 

“directly or indirectly advertise or in any other manner indicate or publicize that the patronage of 

persons of any particular race, creed, color, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, national 

origin, religion, or disability is unwelcome, objectionable, not acceptable, or not solicited.” 

180. The Odgaards reasonably fear that any statements of their religious beliefs affirming 

marriage as  between one man and one woman, including artistic expressions thereof, would be 

viewed by Defendants as “directly or indirectly” advertising, indicating, or publicizing that they 

object to the patronage of some persons based on their sexual orientation, even though that is not 

true. 

181. The Odgaards are thus chilled in exercising their right to free speech as guaranteed by 

the First Amendment to the United States Constitution. 

182. Absent injunctive and declaratory relief against such compelled speech, the Odgaards 

have been and will continue to be harmed. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

Wherefore, the Odgaards respectfully request that the Court:  

a.  Declare that the Odgaards’ religious decision not to host same-sex wedding 

ceremonies does not constitute a violation of the Iowa Civil Rights Act. 

b. Declare that the Odgaards have not engaged in discrimination on the basis of sexual 

orientation because they decline to personally plan, facilitate, sponsor, or host same-

sex wedding ceremonies. 

c. In the alternative, declare that the Iowa Civil Rights Act, as applied by the Defendants 

against the Odgaards, violates the Iowa and United States Constitutions. 
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d. Issue a permanent injunction prohibiting enforcement of the Iowa Civil Rights Act 

against the Odgaards based on their decision not to host same-sex wedding 

ceremonies. 

e. Award the Odgaards nominal damages for the loss of their free speech and free 

exercise rights, as protected by the Iowa and U.S. Constitutions. 

f. Award the Odgaards the costs of this action and reasonable attorney’s fees; and 

g. Award such other and further relief as it deems equitable and just. 

JURY DEMAND 

Plaintiffs request a trial by jury on all issues so triable.  

***** 
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Respectfully submitted this 7th day of October, 2013. 

   /s/ Frank Harty                                                 

Frank Harty, AT0003356 
Ryan G. Koopmans, AT0009366 
Ryan W. Leemkuil, AT0011129 
NYEMASTER GOODE, P.C. 
700 Walnut Street, Suite 1600 
Des Moines, Iowa 50309 
Telephone: 515-283-3100 
Facsimile: 515-283-3108 
E-Mail: fharty@nyemaster.com 
E-Mail: rkoopmans@nyemaster.com 
E-Mail: rleemkuil@nyemaster.com  
 
Eric S. Baxter, DC Bar No. 479221 
  (pro hac vice motion pending) 
Asma Uddin, DC Bar No. 995132 
  (pro hac vice motion pending) 
THE BECKET FUND FOR RELIGIOUS LIBERTY 
3000 K Street, N.W., Suite 220 
Washington, D.C. 20007 
Telephone: (202) 955-0095 
Facsimile: (202) 955-0090 
E-Mail: ebaxter@becketfund.org  
E-Mail: auddin@becketfund.org  

 

 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
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VERIFICATION OF COMPLAINT ACCORDING TO 28 U.S.C. § 1746 

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct to the best of 

my know ledge. 

Executed on October 7, 2013 

*I certify that I have the signed original of 
this document, which is available for 
inspection at any time by the Court or a 
party to this action. 

App - 35



VERIFICATION OF COMPLAINT ACCORDING TO 28 U.S.C. § 1746 

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct to the best of 

my knowledge. 

Executed on October 7, 2013 

/2;LJ~~d 
Richard Odga 

*I certify that I have the signed original of 
this document, which is available for 
inspection at any time by the Court or a 
party to this action. 
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Mediacom Mediacom High Speed Internet Webmail gortzhausgallery@mchsi.com

Bookings Thursday, August 08, 2013 1:09:29 PM
From:

To: info@gortzhausgallery.com

Good afternoon,

I just saw the news. Betty, you're very old and almost dead.  How do you both feel,
knowing that America, and the world, will be a better place without you?

–  

Mediacom: gortzhausgallery@mchsi.com https://mail.mchsi.com/zimbra/#18

1 of 1 10/2/2013 11:27 PM
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Mediacom Mediacom High Speed Internet Webmail gortzhausgallery@mchsi.com

VERY SERIOUS COMPLAINT! Thursday, August 08, 2013 7:21:01 PM
From:

To: INFO@GORTZHAUSGALLERY.COM
Reply To:

YOU ARE MEAN, RUDE, SELFISH, MOTHER FUCKER RACIST SONS OF BITCHES FROM HELL*************************

FUCK UUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUU

MOTHER FUCKERSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSS

YOU WILL BE SUED GOOD FOR DISCRIMINATION...

FUCK YOU
FUCK YOUR GOD
FUCK YOUR RELIGION

I AM A JEW AND I BELIEVE IN GOD AND I AM A RELIGIOUS GAY JEW AND

I SAY FUCK YOUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUU

YOUR BUSINESS SHALL GO DOWN THE FUCKIN DRAIN

YOU WILL SEE

YOU ARE SO LUCKY YOU DID NOT DO THAT TO ME CAUSE IF YOU DID, I WOULD BLAST YOU BIG TIME AND SUE YOUR ASS IN
COURT***************************

YOU SHALL GO TO FUCKIN HELL AND DROP DEAD

AND I AM SENDING YOU ALL AN EVIL BLACK MAGIC WITCH'S CURSE AGAINST YOU.....

SOON VERY BAD THINGS WILL HAPPEN TO YOU.

GOD BLESS THY HOLY SANTERIA.

PLEASE REMOVE THY EVIL, RACIST, PREJUDICE, SELFISH BEINGS FROM THY PRECIOUS MOTHER EARTH!

AMEN!

YOU ARE FINISHED
YOU ARE DOOMED

I WARNED YOU..

Mediacom: gortzhausgallery@mchsi.com https://mail.mchsi.com/zimbra/#10

1 of 1 10/2/2013 11:16 PM
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Mediacom Mediacom High Speed Internet Webmail gortzhausgallery@mchsi.com

Thursday, August 08, 2013 9:46:55 AM
From:

To: info@gortzhausgallery.com

No, you don't get to have your beliefs, not if you're going to run a business that is open to the public.  And that's what you do - hello,
lawsuit! 

Mediacom: gortzhausgallery@mchsi.com https://mail.mchsi.com/zimbra/#2

1 of 1 10/3/2013 5:13 PM
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Mediacom Mediacom High Speed Internet Webmail gortzhausgallery@mchsi.com

standing up for principles Thursday, August 08, 2013 10:14:27 AM
From:

To: info@gortzhausgallery.com
Reply To:

Mr. and Mrs. Odgaard:

I saw your story on KCCI, and wanted to congratulate you. In our politically correct times, few people
are willing to publicly affirm, as Governor Wallace did in he 1960s, "Segregation now, segregation
forever!" I don't suppose you deny service to interracial couples and Jews as well? Think of the
marketing possibilities to "traditional values" folks.

I was a little surprised to see no mention of your policies on your website. I suppose it must give you
great personal joy to tell your gay or lesbian fellow citizens, to their face, that you will not serve them.
But wouldn't it be more efficient to specify on your website which specific groups you discriminate
against?

Mediacom: gortzhausgallery@mchsi.com https://mail.mchsi.com/zimbra/#2

1 of 1 10/3/2013 5:12 PM
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Mediacom Mediacom High Speed Internet Webmail gortzhausgallery@mchsi.com

congratulations, and my best wishes Thursday, August 08, 2013 10:24:35 AM
From:

To: info@gortzhausgallery.com

Thanks to the internet, http://www.towleroad.com/2013/08/grimes.html
You Ms. Betty Odgaard, owner of Gortz Haus are now known to be the Bigot that you are.  Not only a
Bigot, but a woman who breaks the law of the state of Iowa which says it has non-discrimination laws for
public accommodation that covers sexual orientation.  I’m a Christian and I’m ashamed of you…I know
Christ is…he ate with prostitutes…you just prostitute his word to promote your Bigotry.
I hope your new International, worldwide fame, and the state of Iowa,  give you all the rewards you
deserve in this world…and provides you with a very warm greeting in the afterlife.
Most Sincerely

Mediacom: gortzhausgallery@mchsi.com https://mail.mchsi.com/zimbra/#2

1 of 1 10/3/2013 5:09 PM
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Mediacom Mediacom High Speed Internet Webmail gortzhausgallery@mchsi.com

bigotry is alive and well in Iowa Thursday, August 08, 2013 10:37:38 AM
From:

To: info@gortzhausgallery.com

Hello Betty Odgaard

It's my understanding that you turned away a gay couple, for religious reasons, when they came to your establishment with hopes of
holding their wedding there.

First, as you no doubt know, you broke the law of Iowa when you did this.  Iowa has public accommodation anti-discrimination laws that
cover sexual orientation.  I have donated to the couple that you ostracized, I hope that they are able to find a lawyer that shuts your
business down for the law that you broke.

Secondly, and possibly more importantly, I'd like to know your feelings about accommodating people who are divorced or people who eat
shell fish or people that wear polyester and cotton at the same time.  For, you no doubt know this as well, the same scripture that you're
leaning on to justify your bigotry also says that you must hate people for those reasons.

You are quoted in the article that I read as saying "Can't I have my beliefs without being ostracized for that?"   I will answer that question
for you.   Yes, you can have your beliefs without being ostracized for that,  as long as you keep your personal beliefs to yourself and
follow the law of the state in which you hold a business license.

I have no doubt that you hate gay people, that is self evident.  I doubt that there is much love lost there though.   There are now hundreds
of thousands of gay people that don't like you anymore either, and their straight allies are feeling the same way.

I don't envy you the hell that you're going to have to pay for what you've done here.    Let me make myself very clear.  You are, in no
way, shape, form or fashion, showing the love that the supreme being you pretend to worship showed to people when he walked the
earth.

Shame on you.

Mediacom: gortzhausgallery@mchsi.com https://mail.mchsi.com/zimbra/#2

1 of 1 10/3/2013 5:04 PM
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Mediacom Mediacom High Speed Internet Webmail gortzhausgallery@mchsi.com

Your business reviews on Yelp don't look very good Thursday, August 08, 2013 12:03:33 PM

From:

To: info@gortzhausgallery.com

Your bigoted actions are going to drive your business into the ground.
Check out what people are saying about you here:
http://www.yelp.com/biz/gortz‐haus‐gallery‐grimes?sort_by=date_desc

Mediacom: gortzhausgallery@mchsi.com https://mail.mchsi.com/zimbra/#2

1 of 1 10/3/2013 5:01 PM
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Mediacom Mediacom High Speed Internet Webmail gortzhausgallery@mchsi.com

Hello! Thursday, August 08, 2013 12:23:45 PM
From:

To: info@gortzhausgallery.com

Thank you for standing up for your beliefs by being a bigot who breaks the law by failing to allow a same-sex couple to use your public
accommodation (as defined by federal and Iowa law) place for the most important day of their lives.  People like you lead to gay people
being embraced by others who feel their pain, unlike yourself.
 
I bet you'd have taken their money for lunch, or flowers, or a picture frame, wouldn't you?  In fact,  I'm gay, and you've taken mine. 
Would you like to give it back?  I'll bring back the things I've bought there if you will.  Let me add up the receipts, how about it?
 
Shame on you for making Iowa look ugly.
 
I will never spend another dime at Gortz Haus, and had I know how you feel about certain people, I never would have set foot in your
business.  I give my business to people who embrace everyone.   You don' t.
 
So much for love they neighbor and the Golden Rule but I respect your right to believe what you believe.  That's what religious freedom
is all about, even if it leads you to believe you should discriminate against some of God's children.  However, you aren' t a church, and you
broke the law, and I hope you get the pants sued off of you and lose your business for the vile stance you too--maybe THAT will be
God's will for humiliating two individuals who have committed to one another and love one another and did you no harm.
 
You've wasted your life believing that other people aren't good enough and not treating them the same as you would anyone else who is
like you or has the same beliefs as you. 
 
Yours is a completely wasted life because, after all, isn't what you've just done exactly what causes people to be left out of heavien?
 
May the love of God find you and heal you.
 
Signed,
 
One of God's children who happens to be a Christian.

Mediacom: gortzhausgallery@mchsi.com https://mail.mchsi.com/zimbra/#2
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Mediacom Mediacom High Speed Internet Webmail gortzhausgallery@mchsi.com

Discrimination Thursday, August 08, 2013 12:39:06 PM
From:

To: info@gortzhausgallery.com

I just read about your disgraceful practice of discrimination against gay couples. If you are opposed to same-sex marriage, don't have one.
However, if you operate a public accommodation, you cannot discriminate on the basis of sexual orientation.

How would you feel if I decided to discriminate against Mennonites because they offend my religious convictions?

--

General Editor, 

Mediacom: gortzhausgallery@mchsi.com https://mail.mchsi.com/zimbra/#2

1 of 1 10/3/2013 4:57 PM
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Mediacom Mediacom High Speed Internet Webmail gortzhausgallery@mchsi.com

Yes you can have your beliefs! Thursday, August 08, 2013 4:09:05 PM

From:

To: info@gortzhausgallery.com

But don't go crying about it when we, the LGBT community, have out beliefs that you and your husband are bigots and although you
sound so lovely and sad and tell everyone that it is not from an angry place, you in fact are an angry place. 

You

Hate!

Live with it. man up and tell the world that you do see us not as your equals. You people and people like you make me so mad. But there
will come a time when you have to answer for your hate. 

Mediacom: gortzhausgallery@mchsi.com https://mail.mchsi.com/zimbra/#2
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Grimes' Gortz Haus to stop all weddings in wake of
discrimination complaint
grodgers@dmreg.com 6:49 p.m. CST Januar y 28, 2015

The Mennonite owners of a Grimes gift shop and bistro who attracted controversy for preventing a samesex
couple from holding their wedding at the venue
(http://blogs.desmoinesregister.com/dmr/index.php/2013/08/07/grimesweddingvenueturnsawaysame
sexcouple) have put an end to litigation over the issue, but will no longer hold weddings for any couples.

Lee Stafford and Jared Ellers filed a complaint with the Iowa Civil Rights Commission
(http://blogs.desmoinesregister.com/dmr/index.php/2013/10/08/gortzhausownersfilesuitagainstiowacivil
rightscommission) after the owners of the Gortz Haus Gallery, Betty and Richard Odgaard, denied the
samesex couple an opportunity to get married at the 77yearold gallery that once housed a Lutheran

church.

Betty Odgaard said after the complaint was publicized that the gallery's gift shop and bistro have always served gays and lesbians, but that hosting a
samesex wedding would be against the family's religious beliefs.

In a December agreement, the Odgaards agreed to pay the samesex couple a total of $5,000 to settle the civil rights complaint. The Odgaards also
agreed that they could not discriminate against people on the basis of sexual orientation. That provision has led them to stop hosting all weddings,
Betty Odgaard told The Des Moines Register on Wednesday.

"Our faith hasn't changed," she said. "Of course, it's kind of a crushing blow because that's a major part of our business and weddings are so
absolutely gorgeous in that place."

 (Photo: Special to the Register)

Odgaard said the Gortz Haus has typically hosted 15 to 20 weddings on a yearly basis. Additionally, the couple will stop catering and providing flowers
to all weddings. The couple made the decision voluntarily because continuing to hold weddings could make them a target for future discrimination
lawsuits, Odgaard said.

Donna Red Wing, executive director of LGBT advocacy group One Iowa, said she respects the Odgaards' religious beliefs, but was disappointed to
hear about the decision to stop hosting weddings. It was the correct decision, though, if the couple remains unwilling to host ceremonies for samesex
couples, as Iowa law bars businesses that offer services to the public from discrimination, she said.

(Photo: Register file)

Buy Photo
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"I think it's sad that people have to make a decision like that," she said. "I'm really sad that their beautiful facility is no longer going to have any
weddings at all, but if they're not going to allow samegender weddings, they really can't allow any."

The Odgaards have dismissed a lawsuit they filed against the Iowa Civil Rights Commission that claimed their religious freedom was being violated,
said Eric Baxter, an attorney with the Becket Fund for Religious Liberty who represented the Odgaards. After refusing to host a wedding for Stafford
and Ellers, the Odgaards became a target for "hateful and threatening emails," according to the lawsuit they filed. Betty Odgaard told the Register in
October 2013 that people were boycotting the gallery.

Odgaard said Wednesday that she's concerned about the gallery's future without the wedding business, but that litigation could not continue to go on
"forever."

"It had to end, and there was not going to be any good ending," she said. "(It was) better resolved than not."

The settlement that the Ogaards reached with Stafford and Ellers allowed the business owners to deny any wrongdoing under Iowa law. The
settlement was first reported Wednesday in the alternative weekly newspaper Cityview.

Read or Share this story: http://dmreg.co/1K6MnDi

Every subscription includes

EXCLUSIVE CONTENT, 
DEALS & MORE

LEARN MORE
(HTTP://WWW.DESMOINESREGISTER.COM/MEMBERGUIDE?

GPS-
SOURCE=BEAGILSPECIALOFFERAUGUST&UTM_MEDIUM=OVERLAY&UTM_SOURCE=BOUNCE-
EXCHANGE&UTM_CAMPAIGN=AUGUST&UTM_CONTENT=AGILITYZONE)

App - 60

http://www.desmoinesregister.com/memberguide?gps-source=BEAGILSPECIALOFFERaugust&utm_medium=overlay&utm_source=bounce-exchange&utm_campaign=august&utm_content=agilityzone


 
 

Exhibit D 
 

 

App - 61



FAYETTE CIRCUIT COURT 
CIVIL BRANCH 

THIRD DIVISION 
CIVIL ACTION NO. 14-CI-04474 

HANDS ON ORIGINALS, INC. 

v 

LEXINGTON-FAYETTE URBAN COUNTY 
HUMAN RIGHTS COMMISSION 

and 

AARON BAKER FOR GAY AND LESBIAN 
SERVICES ORGANIZATION 

PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT 

DEFENDANT-APPELLEE 

DEFENDANT-APPELLEE 

**************************** 

OPINION AND ORDER 

Following the Hearing Commissioner' s Opinion and Order filed on October 6, 

2014 and the adoption of said Opinion and Order by the Lexington-Fayette Urban County 

Human Rights Commission (hereinafter "Commission") on November 19, 2014, the 

Plaintiff-Appellant, Hands On Originals, Inc. (hereinafter "HOO") timely filed a 

Complaint and Notice of Appeal of said Order on December 8, 2014 to the Fayette 

Circuit Court. This Court thereafter entered an Agreed Scheduling Order setting forth 

deadlines for the filing of a Motion for Summary Judgment by HOO, Response by the 

Commission, Reply by HOO and scheduling Oral Arguments on March 13, 2015. 

The Court has reviewed the Record for the Commission, the excellent Memoranda 

from all Counsel and has heard oral Arguments thereon as scheduled. The matter was 

taken under Advisement by the Court. It is now ripe for decision. 
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PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

Although HOO disputes some of the Hearing Commissioner's recitation of facts in 

the Order of October 6, 2014, the essential facts are not in serious dispute. HOO 

candidly admits the essential facts are not material to resolution of this case (HOO 

Memoranda in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment at pp. 14 - 15). The essential 

facts as found by the Hearing Conunissioner and as determined by this Court from the 

Commission Record are as follows: 

On or about March 28, 2012, Aaron Baker filed a Verified Complaint with the 

Commission on behalf of the Gay and Lesbian Services Organization (hereinafter 

"GLSO"). The Complaint alleged that on or about March 8, 2012, HOO denied that 

organization the full and equal enjoyment of a service when HOO refused to print the 

official t-shirts for the organizations' 2012 Pride Festival. Following an investigation by 

the Commission, a determination of Probable Cause and Charge of Discrimination was 

filed by the Commission against HOO on November 13, 2012. The Charge of 

Discrimination alleged that HOO violated local Ordinance 201-99; Section 2:33 from the 

Lexington-Fayette Urban County Government (Sometimes referred to as the "Fairness 

Ordinance"). This Ordinance generally prohibits a public accommodation from 

discriminating against individuals, inter alia, based upon their sexual orientation or 

gender identity. 

HOO is a small business located in Fayette County, Kentucky which prints 

promotional materials such as shirts, hats, bags, blankets, cups, bottles and mugs and 

communicates messages for its customers with these promotional materials. The work is 
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artistic in nature as well as the design of the promotional material in question. HOO 

employs five full-time graphic design artists to carry out the expressive purposes of its 

clients. Blaine Adamson is one of three owners of HOO and has been Managing Owner 

since 2008. He and his co-owners are Christians who believe that the Holy Bible is the 

inspired Word of God and that they should strive to live consistently with its teachings. 

HOO's owners, through Blaine Adamson, as Managing Owner, operate HOO 

consistently with the teachings of the Bible. 

HOO has a stated policy on its website which provides: 

Hands On Originals both employs and conducts business with 
people of all genders, races, religions, sexual preferences, and 
national origins. However, due to the promotional nature of our 
products, it is the prerogative of Hands On Originals to refuse any 
order that would endorse positions that conflict with the convictions 
of the ownership. 

HOO acknowledges that it is a "public accommodation" as that term is defined in 

the "Fairness Ordinance" and those sections of the Kentucky Civil Rights Act which are 

incorporated by reference in the aforementioned Ordinance. At all relevant times herein, 

Adamson instructed his sales representatives to decline to design, print or produce orders 

whenever the requested material was perceived to promote an event or organization that 

conveys messages that are considered by Adamson or HOO to be inappropriate or 

inconsistent with Christian beliefs. HOO has declined at least thirteen orders over the 

past several years preceding the filing of this Complaint on the basis that HOO believed 

the designs to be offensive contrary to their Christian beliefs or otherwise inappropriate. 
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Sales persons were directed by Adamson to bring proposed orders directly to him if there 

were any questions about the appropriateness of the orders. 

At all relevant times, GLSO was an organization located in Lexington, Fayette 

County which represents and is an advocate for the gay, lesbian, bisexual, transgender, 

queer, questioning, intersex and ally community. GLSO holds an annual event called the 

"Lexington Pride Festival" that supports these persons or its message. Aaron Baker, on 

behalf of GLSO, charges in the Complaint before the Commission that after having 

accepted an order to print t-shirts for the Pride Festival in 2012, HOO refused to print the 

t-shirts allegedly because of the sexual orientation of the GLSO members which is 

prohibited by the Fairness Ordinance. GLSO is an advocacy group. Through its various 

programs, publications and other media, GLSO speaks in favor of sexual relationships 

and sexual activities outside of a marriage between a man and a woman. GLSO seeks to 

change attitudes concerning this issue and similar issues through its programs and 

publications. GLSO' s members and its constituents and supporters come from all walks 

of life and all sexual orientations. Aaron Baker, GLSO's former president and the 

person that filed the Complaint on behalf of GLSO in this case, is married to a person of 

the opposite sex and does not identify himself as gay. 

In February 2012, with the 2012 Lexington Pride Festival being scheduled for 

June 30, 2012, GLSO board member Shepherd contacted 3 t-shirt printing companies to 

obtain price quotes for the t-shirts to be used at the 2012 Pride Festival. This board 

member initially spoke with Kaleb Carter, an employee of HOO. Another individual 

from GLSO sent an email to Carter providing him with a color print of the desired design 
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of the t-shirt. Carter reviewed the submitted design and did not express any objection to 

it at that time. Carter gave GLSO a written quote via email. Carter had not yet presented 

a copy of the design of the t-shirt to Adamson prior to giving GLSO a written quote. 

On or about March 8, 2012 a GLSO representative, Don Lowe, contacted HOO to 

discuss the quote. Lowe spoke with Adamson in that conversation. At the time of that 

conversation, Adamson had not spoken to Lowe or any other representative of GLSO 

regarding the order. Adamson had not viewed a copy of the t-shirt design at that point 

and did not do so during the phone conversation with Lowe. Adamson questioned Lowe 

about the GLSO organization, its mission and what the organization generally promoted. 

Lowe advised Adamson that the organization was the sponsor of the Lexington Pride 

Festival which was a gay pride festival in downtown Lexington scheduled for the 

summer. Adamson asked Lowe what would be printed on the shirt. Lowe gave 

Adamson a detailed description of the front of the t-shirt design. Adamson was thus 

made aware of the type of activities that typically occur at gay pride festivals including 

the display of signs and other communications promoting romantic relationships and 

sexual activity outside of marriages between a man and a woman, the sexually suggestive 

outfits and costumes and the distribution of sex-related items such as condoms and 

lubricants. Adamson also understood that groups like GLSO promote messages 

supporting sexual relationships or sexual activities outside of a marriage between a man 

and a woman. 

It was thus obvious to Adamson from his conversation with Lowe of GLSO, that 

producing the t-shirts as requested would require HOO to print a t-shirt with the words 
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"Lexington Pride Festival" communicating the message that people should take pride in 

sexual relationships or sexual activity outside of a marriage between a man and a woman. 

Adamson has consistently expressed his belief that this activity would disobey God if he 

were to authorize HOO to print materials expressing that message. Thus, Adamson told 

Lowe that HOO could not print the t-shirts because those promotional items did not 

reflect the values of HOO and HOO did not want to support the festival in that way. 

Several other printing companies later offered to print the t-shirts for GLSO for free or at 

a substantially reduced price. HOO even offered to contact other printing companies to 

get the work done at the same price as quoted by HOO. At no time did GLSO 

representatives Lowe or Shepherd disclose their sexual orientation and no HOO 

representative inquired of them about that issue. It is the understanding of the Court that 

GLSO later got their requested t-shirts printed at little or no cost to that group. 

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

This case is before the Court on Appeal by HOO from an adverse decision issued 

by the LFUCG Human Rights Commission. Accordingly, the Standard of Review by this 

Court is found in KRS l 3B. l 50 which provides in part as follows: 

(1) Review of a final order shall be conducted by the court without a jury 
and shall be confined to the record, ... the Court, upon request, may hear 
oral argument and receive written briefs 

(2) The court shall not substitute its judgment for that of the agency as to 
the weight of the evidence on questions of fact. The court may affirm 
the final order or it may reverse the final order, in whole or in part, and 
remand the case for further proceedings if it finds the agency ' s final 
order is: 

(a) In violation of constitutional or statutory provisions; 
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(b) In excess of the statutory authority of the agency; 

( c) Without support or substantial evidence on the whole record; 

( d) Arbitrary, capricious, or characterized by abuse of discretion; 

(e) Based on a ex parte communication which substantially 
prejudiced the rights of any party and likely affected the outcome 
of the hearing; 

(f) Prejudice by a failure of the person conducting the proceeding to 
be disqualified pursuant to KRS 13B. 040(2); or 

(g) Deficient as otherwise provided by law. 

This Court fully understands it is reviewing this matter under the limitations set 

out in (2) above. The following analysis and Judgment are based on the evidence 

in the Commission record before the Hearing Commissioner, the Constitutions of 

the United States and Kentucky and well-settled precedent from the United States 

Supreme Court. 

ANALYSIS AND OPINION 

(I) THE ORDER FROM THE HUMAN RIGHTS COMMISSION 
VIOLATES THE RECOGNIZED CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS OF HOO 
AND ITS OWNERS TO BE FREE FROM COMPELLED EXPRESSION 

HOO and its owners have a Constitutional right of freedom of expression from 

government coercion. The Commission conceded at oral argument that the Commission 

was created by the Lexington-Fayette Urban County Government and its members are 

appointed by the Mayor. Thus, the action and the order of the Commission in this case is 

government action without dispute. 
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These Constitutional guarantees are found in both the Constitution of the United 

States (First Amendment) and in the Commonwealth of Kentucky(§ I § 8). The 

Commission agreed that HOO and its owners have those Constitutional protections when 

it adopted the Order of the Hearing Commissioner. ("The Hearing Commissioner agrees 

that these cases support a finding that when the Respondent (HOO) prints a promotional 

item, it acts as a speaker, and that this act of speaking is constitutionally protected.) 

(Hearing Commissioner Order at pp 13 - 14 ). These Constitutional freedoms as noted by 

the United States Supreme Court in Wooley v Maynard, 430 U.S. 705, 714 (1977): 

We begin with the proposition that the right of freedom of 
thought protected by the First Amendment against state action 
includes both the right to speak freely and the right to refrain 
from speaking at all. 

Wooley, supra involved the issue of whether or not the motorists of New 

Hampshire could be compelled to display a license plate with the motto of "Live Free or 

Die". The United States Supreme Court held that this was inappropriate state action and 

concluded that the government could not require the motorist to display the state motto 

upon the vehicle license plates. 

The Hearing Commissioner in its Order attempted to distinguish Wooley from the 

case at bar with the explanation that "In this case there was no government mandate that 

the Respondent (HOO) speak." (Hearing Commissioner Order at p 14). If this is 

characterized as a Finding of Fact, it is inaccurate, is not supported by the Record and is 

clearly erroneous. In fact, HOO and its owners, because they refused to print the GLSO 

t-shirts that offended their sincerely held religious beliefs, have been punished for the 
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exercise of their Constitutional rights to refrain from being forced to speak. The 

statement is not a fair or accurate Conclusion of Law either based upon precedent from 

the United States Supreme Court. HOO and its owners have a Constitutional right to 

refrain from speaking just as much as they enjoy the Constitutional right to speak freely. 

Wooley, supra. 

The Commission in oral arguments before the Court and in its Memoranda agreed 

that HOO and its owners have a sincerely held Christian belief that it is contrary to the 

Holy Bible for persons to engage in sexual activities outside of a marriage between one 

man and one woman. The Pride Festival is without dispute a strong advocate for sexual 

relationships outside of that principle. 

The Commission in its oral argument says it is not trying to infringe on the 

Constitutional Rights of HOO and its owners but is seeking only to have HOO " ... treat 

everyone the same." Yet, HOO has demonstrated in this record that it has done just that. 

It has treated homosexual and heterosexual groups the same. In 20 l 0, 2011 and 2012, 

HOO declined to print at least thirteen (13) orders for message based reasons. Those 

print orders that were refused by HOO included shirts promoting a strip club, pens 

promoting a sexually explicit video, and shirts containing a violence related message. 

There is further evidence in the Commission record that it is standard practice within the 

promotional printing industry to decline to print materials containing messages that the 

owners do not want to support. Nonetheless, the Commission punished HOO for 

declining to print messages advocating sexual activity to which HOO and its owners 

strongly oppose on sincerely held religious grounds. 
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HOO did not decline to print the t-shirts in question or work with GLSO 

representatives because of the sexual orientation of the representatives that 

communicated with HOO. It is undisputed that neither HOO representatives Carter nor 

Adamson knew or inquired about the sexual orientation of either GLSO representatives 

Lowe or Shepherd. Rather, as is uncontested and actually found by the Hearing 

Commissioner at page 4 of the Order, the conversation between GLSO representative 

Lowe and HOO owner Adamson was about GLSO's mission and what the organization 

generally promoted. GLSO has admitted that the shirt in question communicates 

messages. In depositions before the Commission, GLSO representatives conceded that 

the logo on the shirt in question communicates the message that people should be proud 

about sexual relationships other than marriages between a man and a woman. This 

statement, of course, is directly contrary to the beliefs and values of HOO and its owners 

as expressed in its Mission Statement and actions. It is their Constitutional right to hold 

dearly and not be compelled to be part of the advocacy of messages opposed to their 

sincerely held Christian beliefs. In short, HOO's declination to print the shirts was based 

upon the message of GLSO and the Pride Festival and not on the sexual orientation of 

its representatives or members. In point of fact, there is nothing in the record before the 

Commission that the sexual orientation of any individual that had contact with HOO was 

ever divulged or played any part in this case. 

There is ample precedent from the United States Supreme Court that the 

Commission in its Order violated the Constitutional rights of HOO and its owners in its 

Order issued November 19, 2014. Hurley v Irish-American Gay, Lesbian and Bisexual 
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Group of Boston, 515 U.S. 557 ( 1995) illustrates this principle. In Hurley, parade 

organizers in Boston had refused to allow a group of gay, lesbian and bisexual decedents 

oflrish immigrants to march in a St. Patrick's day parade. The group sued. This case 

also involved a "public accommodation" law like the case at bar. The issue in Hurley as 

framed by the United States Supreme Court was whether a government could require a 

private citizen to include marchers of a group imparting a message the organizers do not 

wish to convey. The United Stated Supreme Court unanimously held that such a 

mandate violates the First Amendment. The public accommodation law in Hurley was 

similar to, if not a close recitation of, the "Fairness Ordinance" in the case at bar. If 

Massachusetts could not compel parade organizers to include a group advocating a 

message that the parade organizers did not support, how can the LFUCG Human Rights 

Commission interpret the "Fairness Ordinance" to compel HOO and its owners to print a 

t-shirt conveying a message that HOO and its owners do not support and in fact find 

blasphemous? The Court holds that the Commission cannot take this action consistent 

with the U.S. Constitution. 

Similarly, in Boy Scouts of America v Dale, 530 U.S. 640 (2000) the United States 

Supreme Court was faced with the issue of whether or not the Boy Scouts of America 

could expel an assistant scout master under New Jersey's public accommodation law 

after he publicly declared he was homosexual. The United States Supreme Court held 

that applying New Jersey's public accommodations law to require the Boy Scouts to 

admit the assistant scout master violated the Boy Scouts' First Amendment right of 

expressive association. There is no question in the case at bar that HOO, in designing 
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and printing promotional materials, engages in "expressive association" which the Unites 

States Supreme Court upheld as a First Amendment right in Dale. Like the Boy Scouts 

in Dale, HOO is entitled to claim First Amendment protection as a for profit corporation 

in this case. Hurley, supra. The message on the t-shirt in question is undoubtedly 

expressive association in advocating pride in sexual activity outside of a marriage 

between one man and one woman. HOO and its owners have a Constitutional right to 

that sincerely held religious principle. The infringement and violation of same by the 

Commission is contrary to established United States Supreme Court precedent and the 

Constitution of both the United States and Kentucky. 

The Commission Order held and adopted the Hearing Commissioner Opinion that 

" ... the application of the Fairness Ordinance does not violate the Respondent's (HOO) 

right to free speech, does not compel it to speak, and does not burden the Respondent' s 

(HOO) right to be to the free exercise of religion". This statement is not supported by the 

facts in the record before the Commission and is contrary to well established precedent 

from the United States Supreme Court and the Constitutions of the United States and 

Kentucky. That statement is also clearly erroneous as a matter of law and as a conclusion 

of law. The exact opposite is, in fact and law, true. 

This Court has undertaken review of this case based upon KRS 13B.150 and under 

the doctrine of "strict scrutiny." The Commission Order applies to "speech", the "free 

exercise thereof', and violation of the Constitutional right of HOO and its owners to 

refrain from compelled expression. This Court does not fault the Commission in its 

interest in insuring citizens have equal access to services but that is not what this case is 
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all about. There is no evidence in this record that HOO or its owners refused to print the 

t-shirts in question based upon the sexual orientation of GLSO or its members or 

representatives that contacted HOO. Rather, it is clear beyond dispute that HOO and its 

owners declined to print the t-shirts in question because of the MESSAGE advocating 

sexual activity outside of a marriage between one man and one woman. The well 

established Constitutional rights of HOO and its owners on this issue is well settled and 

requires action by this Court. 

(II) THE COMMISSION'S ORDER VIOLATES HOO'S AND ITS 
OWNERS'FREE EXERCISE OF RELIGION PROTECTED BY KRS 
446.350 

In a summary paragraph found on page 16 of the Order from the Hearing 

Commissioner, which was adopted by the Commission, the following statements are 

made: 

The evidence of record shows that the Respondent (HOO) 
discriminated against the GLSO because of its members ' 
actual or imputed sexual orientation by refusing to print and 
sell to them the official shirts for the 2012 Lexington Pride 
Festival. In addition, the Hearing Commissioner holds that 
the application of the Fairness Ordinance does not violate 
the Respondent' s (HOO) right to free speech, does not compel 
it to speak, and does not burden the Respondent' s (HOO) 
right to the free exercise of religion. 

With all due respect to the Hearing Commissioner and the Human Rights 

Commission, these statements are not factually accurate and are in direct contrast to well 

established precedent from the United States Supreme Court interpreting the Federal 

Constitution. Further, KRS 446.350 provides as follows: 
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Government shall not substantially burden a person's freedom of religion. 
The right to act or refuse to act in a manner motivated by a sincerely held 
religious belief may not be substantially burdened unless the government 
proves by clear and convincing evidence that it has a compelling 
governmental interest in infringing the specific act or refusal to act and has 
used the least restrictive means to further that interest. A "burden" shall 
include indirect burdens such as withholding benefits, assessing penalties, 
or an exclusion of programs or access to facilities. 

Both HOO and its owners are entitled to assert claims under this statute. The 

statute protects the religious freedom of all "persons" in Kentucky. While "person" is not 

defined in KRS 446.350 specifically, it is defined in KRS 446.010(33) to include 

corporate bodies and other companies. The statute's protection applies to corporations 

like HOO. SeeBurwellvHobbyLobbyStores, Inc., 134 S. Ct. 2751 , 2768-69 (2014). 

The fact that HOO is a for profit corporation does not deprive it from having standing on 

this issue. Hobby Lobby, supra 

The statute is applicable to the case at bar because HOO and its owners exercise of 

religion was motivated by the owners sincerely held religious beliefs. The Commission 

has admitted that HOO and its owners religious beliefs are sincerely held and that the 

sincerity of their beliefs is not at issue. (Commission Order at p 8). The Commission's 

Order substantially burdens HOO's and its owners' free exercise of religion wherein the 

government (Commission) punished HOO and its owners by its order for exercising their 

sincerely held religious beliefs. This is contrary to established Constitutional law. 

Sherbert v Verner, 374 U.S. 398, 403 (1963). Because the Commission's Order requires 

HOO and its owners to print shirts that convey messages contrary to their faith, that 

Order inflicts a substantial burden on their free exercise of religion. 
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As this Court has determined that the Commission's Order substantially burdens 

HOO and its owners free exercise of religion, the Court must look to the Commission to 

" ... prove by clear and convincing evidence that it has a compelling governmental interest 

in infringing the specific act or refusal to act and has used the least restrictive means to 

further that interest." KRS 446.350. In the case at bar, the Commission has not even 

attempted, much less shown by·"ciear and convincing evidence" or otherwise, that it has 

any compelling government interest in the consequences imposed upon HOO and its 

owners in this case. As previously mentioned, it is the understanding of this Court based 

on the record that GLSO was able to obtain printing of the t-shirts in question at a 

substantially reduced price or perhaps even had them printed for free. This was the offer 

extended by HOO owner Adamson in the initial phone conversation with a GLSO 

representative to refer GLSO to another printing company to do the work for the same 

price quoted by HOO. The Court holds that the Commission has not proven by clear and 

convincing evidence or otherwise that it has a compelling governmental interest to 

enforce in this case. Therefore, it must also be concluded as a matter of law that the 

Commission's Order violates KRS 446.350 as well. 

CONSIDERATION OF OTHER ISSUES RAISED 

Although HOO has raised other issues, the Court sees no need to address them in 

light of the foregoing analysis. 

CONCLUSION, ORDER AND JUDGMENT 

By reason of the foregoing, it is the Order and Judgment of this Court that the 

Motion for Summary Judgment and Stay Pending Judicial Review filed by the Plaintiff-
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Appellant, Hands on Originals, Inc., should be and is hereby GRANTED. Further, it is 

the Conclusion, Order and Judgment of this Court that the Commission's Order issued on 

November 19, 2014 which incorporated by reference the Hearing Commissioner' s 

Opinion and Order issued on October 6, 2014 is hereby REVERSED upon grounds that 

the Court finds the Commission's final Order pursuant to KRS 13B.150, is: 

(a) In violation of Constitutional and statutory provisions; 

(b) In excess of the statutory authority of the agency; 

( c) Without support of substantial evidence on the whole record; 

(d) Arbitrary, capricious, or characterized by an abuse of discretion; and 

( e) Deficient as otherwise provided by law. 

It is therefore ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that this case is REVERSED 

AND REMANDED to the Commission with the directions that the Commission 

VACATE and SET ASIDE its Order issued on November 19, 2014 and DISMISS 

ALL CHARGES AGAINST HOO. 

Dated this 271
h day of April, 2015 
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This is to certify that a true and correct copy of the foregoing Opinion and Order 
was served upon the following parties, via First Class Mail and e-mai l, this 27th day of 
April, 2015 as follows: 

Bryan H. Beauman, Esq. 
Sturgill, Turner, Barker & 
Moloney, PLLC 
333 West Vine Street, Suite 1400 
Lexington, KY 40507 

bbeauman@sturgillturner.com 

Tracey Burkett, Esq. 
114 East Main Street, Suite C 
P.O. Box 1373 
Richmond, KY 40476 

Tracey.burkette@burkettlawky.com 

VINCENT RIGGS, C.F.C.C. 
BY: d.c. 

James A. Campbell , Esq. 
Byron J. Babione, Esq. 
Kenneth J. Connelly, Esq. 
Alliance Defending Freedom 
15100 North 90111 Street 
Scottsdale, AZ 85260 

jcampbell@alliancedefendingfreedom.org 
bbabione@alliancedefendingfreedom.org 
kconnellv@alliancedefendingfreedom.org 

Aaron Baker 
Gay and Lesbian Services Organization 
389 Waller Avenue, Suite 100 
Lexington, KY 40504 
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